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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  The Senate Health and Human Services Committee will begin.  I understand my colleagues are nearby, and I do hope that they’ll join us shortly.


There is one measure that is before us today, and we are operating a joint hearing between the Senate Subcommittee on Aging as well as the standing committee of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee.  We will move between the joint committee hearing and into the Health and Human Services Committee hearing for the purposes of hearing one measure.  That is SB 678.  So, as soon as we establish either something resembling a subcommittee or a full committee, we can actually move forward.


I thank the public for being here, and I do believe my colleagues should be here shortly.

[BREAK]


I’m going to take the liberty of beginning the joint committee hearing as a committee of one.  We do have witnesses who’ve joined us—thank you for joining us, Senator Figueroa—witnesses who have joined us that have come from different parts of the state, and I don’t want to delay their time.  I’m going to move forward and hope that Senator Vasconcellos joins me as a joint committee chair of the Senate Subcommittee on Aging and Long-Term Care.  When he joins, hopefully he will be able to then provide some opening comments.


Good afternoon.  I would like to welcome all of you here today to this joint hearing.  I’m Senator Ortiz.  I’m the chair of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee, and I’m joined by Senator Figueroa, and I thank her.  As always, she is prompt.


The focus of the hearing today is to look at the new Medicare prescription drug bill.  As we all know, Congress passed and the President signed legislation late last year creating a new prescription drug benefit for Medicare beneficiaries.  Under the bill, Medicare beneficiaries will have access to prescription drug discount cards starting in June of this year and to an actual drug benefit plan starting in year 2006.  


There are certainly a number of good things that can be said about the new federal effort.  However, I, like many, have a number of concerns about the new drug program and how it will be implemented in our state, particularly in light of many of the challenges we face elsewhere in healthcare delivery.


Just as any doctor can tell you, a prescription that is not strong enough won’t solve the problem it is trying to address.  The Medicare drug bill is not strong enough medicine to solve the problems that we’re trying to address here in the State of California; namely, how persons and individuals need very expensive, life-saving medication and how they balance that against the increasing costs of health care in general.


Let me list some of the specific concerns that I have with the federal proposal and how it is being implemented in California.  And I’m going to allow my colleagues who’ve joined us to also weigh in with opening comments and concerns.


The first issue is the adequacy of the drug benefit.  I’m concerned, like many, about the adequacy of the benefit that Congress and the President have created.  In particular, it troubles me that the legislation links premiums and deductibles that beneficiaries will pay to the rising cost of the drugs instead of something that is more equitable, such as the increases in Social Security benefits or the income of the beneficiary.  Those are indicators that make sense rather than tying the rising cost of the drugs to the benefit package.  We don’t have control of the rising cost of drugs.  We do, on the other hand, have an obligation to be concerned about the income and the ability to pay the beneficiaries.


A second issue is the negotiation of the drug prices.  One of the issues that’s problematic, of course, is that the legislation doesn’t include a role for the federal government to negotiate drug prices under the program.  In my opinion, this guarantees that beneficiaries will face higher drug prices and higher out-of-pocket costs than they would otherwise.  And—the real strength is in the ability of the government to negotiate those prices.


A third issue is the drug importation features, which have gotten lots of headlines and lots of attention and I think has got every state in this country looking at ways to address a very important issue that’s a fact of life today.


I’m dismayed that Congress didn’t require the secretary of Health and Human Services to work with the states on establishing a workable system to enable low-income seniors and others to safely import drugs from Canada.  I am, as well as a number of other members, carrying legislation at the state level to try to help seniors and others to safely access life-saving medication, but the success of those efforts depends on the role of the federal government and their ability to cooperate with the State of California.


A fourth issue is the lack of a systematic outreach plan, and I think this is incredibly critical.  This is a very far-sweeping proposal with many complicated provisions.  I’m concerned that there’s no systematic outreach and education effort or a plan in place to address the rising level of confusion on the part of seniors and other beneficiaries stemming from this program.  Thus far, the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (or CMS) has established a 1-800 number for beneficiaries to call, and they have a website.  


While these are somewhat helpful, I’m not sure that most seniors can access a website.  I’m not sure that the whole system of 1-800 numbers and the complicated process of punching numbers and moving into options is the most user-friendly mechanism.  They don’t get to the root of the problems that beneficiaries face in considering their options for accessing prescription drugs.


The problem, as we will hear today, is that beneficiaries are currently facing a confusing array of choices for how they access their prescription drugs.  This bill adds several more new choices to the list.  The existing options include:

· Medicaid for very low-income beneficiaries.

· Medigap plans.

· Drug companies’ patient assistance programs.

· Existing drug discount cards.

· Medicare managed care plans.

· Retiree health benefit plans.

· And even importation from Canada for the more savvy.


The options change frequently and are likely to change further when the new coverage options are put into place.  This suggests a need for a real focused, one-on-one education and counseling at the local level.


While we currently have the HICAP program to perform this type of work, their role, and the level of funding that they receive, is not clearly spelled out at this time, even though beneficiaries are only a few months away from having to make their first decisions regarding the new discount cards.


Another issue is the provision of low-income and dual-eligible beneficiaries.  I’m very concerned that this bill will end up reducing the level of drug coverage for the lowest income and the most vulnerable beneficiaries.  It does this, first, by reducing the drug benefit for the dual-eligible population—those who are dually eligible for Medicare and Medi-Cal and who currently get their drug coverage through Medi-Cal—to a basic drug benefit level.  Secondly, it disallows federal matching funding to states for supplemental coverage.  


State maintenance-of-effort requirements is another troubling issue as it relates to the bill, establishing a financial maintenance of effort for states that may produce little relief for states and may, in fact, end up costing them money, depending on how the provisions are implemented.


Finally, the bill significantly threatens access to cancer treatment through changes in reimbursement for cancer drugs.  


To address all these shortcomings, I intend to do a number of things following the hearing, and I hope that my colleagues will consider these worthwhile efforts as well.  


I’m introducing a resolution next week asking Congress and the President to revisit several provisions of the new legislation, including modifying the cost-sharing indexing provisions; asking that the federal government be given the authority to negotiate prices with drug companies; and asking that the secretary of the federal Department of Health and Human Services be directed to work with the states and localities on implementing a safe and reliable drug importation program.


The resolution would also ask that states receive federal matching funds if they choose to maintain the level of drug coverage for dual-eligible populations.  Again, these are seniors who also have very low incomes.  The resolution would, in addition, ask that Congress make changes to adequately reimburse cancer doctors for the cost of administering cancer drugs in their offices.


I also intend to send letters to both the administrator of the CMS and the governor, asking that they meet as soon as possible to devise a comprehensive and workable outreach and education plan for beneficiaries in California, including adequate funding for the HICAP program to carry out the enormous education and counseling efforts that will be required under this bill.  Having a scheme and a federal opportunity available to bring down costs of drugs to Californians is a laudable goal, but unless we have the kind of case management that is essential to maneuver our way through a complicated program, it means nothing.


The letter would also ask the governor to work with CMS and the Bush Administration to ensure that California is not penalized in the calculation of the financial maintenance-of-effort requirement by being able to get credit for the value of outstanding rebates owed to our state by the drug manufacturers.


In closing, let me say that I look forward to the testimony today.  I look forward to the ways that we can try to make affordable drug coverage a reality for Medicare beneficiaries.  


With that, I’d like to ask Senator Vasconcellos, who has joined us, whether he would like to make a statement before we proceed.


SENATOR JOHN VASCONCELLOS:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.


As chair of the Senate Subcommittee on Aging and Long-Term Care, I share your concerns and am pleased to be here and to cosponsor this hearing with you to see that we understand its implications, educate our people, and figure out how we have to act in order to make the best of this for the people of California.  I’ll be happy to coauthor your letter and your resolution and whatever else that you want if it’s helpful to you in this cause.  


I’m looking forward to finding out all we can learn today and hear from the people who are at risk.  It’s what we need to do and learn to do and help to do to make the best of what is not, in my mind, an ideal plan that was adopted back in Big Brother Washington.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Vasconcellos.


Let me allow my colleagues, if they’d like, to make opening comments.  


What I failed to do earlier was to remind members we’re actually hopping back into the Health and Human Services Committee at the appropriate time to establish a quorum to hear one measure and to move that to the floor.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  We’ve got seven here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The magic number is here.  If members would like to hold off on their opening comments, I have a quick presentation.  I’d like to recess the joint committee and move into the Senate Health and Human Services Committee for the purpose of presenting one bill.

[BREAK]


We have now returned to the joint hearing.


Did other members want to provide opening comments before we have the witnesses come forward?


Okay.  If not, let me call up the witnesses for the first panel at this time.  They are:  Michelle Kitchman, the senior policy analyst with the Henry Kaiser Family Foundation; Mr. Jeff Flick; Mr. Earl Lui; Bonnie Burns; Peter Szego; David Grant; and Dr. Miller.  Let me ask you all to identify yourself once you begin your testimony.


You may begin.  I think Ms. Kitchman is the first witness.


And I encourage members to read Ms. Kitchman’s policy document that’s in your packet.  It is quite informative, as is all of the material that’s in the packet.


Welcome.


MS. MICHELLE KITCHMAN:  Thank you.


Good afternoon, Senator Ortiz, Senator Vasconcellos, and members of the Health and Human Services Committee and the Subcommittee on Aging and Long-Term Care.  I want to thank you for the opportunity to speak to you today as part of this important hearing on the new Medicare law.


My name is Michelle Kitchman.  I’m a senior policy analyst with the Kaiser Family Foundation in Washington, D.C.  Kaiser is a nonprofit, private operating foundation that provides information and analysis on healthcare issues to policymakers, to the media, healthcare community, and the general public.  For better, for worse, we are not associated with Kaiser Permanente or Kaiser Industries.  We are a non-insurance company.


The purpose of my presentation today is to provide an overview of the key drug provisions in the new Medicare law.  First, I’ll start with a description of the interim provisions for discount drug cards and then go into more in depth about the prescription drug benefit which will become effective in January of 2006.  I’ll also discuss some of the provisions related to the dual-eligible population, other low-income beneficiaries, and the state Medicaid programs.  We’ll discuss the implications for beneficiaries in general and then talk a little bit about the future and raise some questions that will certainly need to be answered over time.


First, an overview of the new law.  


In the near-term future, to provide some immediate assistance in the years prior to 2006 (when the drug benefit kicks in), the law creates a new Medicare-endorsed discount card program to give beneficiaries greater access to negotiated discounts on their prescription drug purchases.  These cards are designed to help those without any additional source of coverage.  The discount card program also includes a temporary transitional assistance program which would provide $600 per year in subsidies to low-income beneficiaries who do not have coverage from any other sources in 2004 and 2005.


In 2006, the new Medicare drug benefit actually goes into effect, and this would provide beneficiaries the opportunity to obtain their drug benefits through private risk-bearing plans.  Beneficiaries who would like to remain in the traditional fee-for-service program for their Medicare benefits, they will be able to do so, but they would be required to sign up for drug coverage from stand-alone, private prescription drug plans, which people refer to as PDPs.  


Others may elect to get all of their Medicare benefits, including the new prescription drug benefits, from integrated health plans.  These are like PPOs and HMOs under a new program called Medicare Advantage.  You may know the former program:  Medicare Plus Choice.  It’s somewhat similar to that.  California has had very high enrollment in Medicare Plus Choice plans.  About a third of beneficiaries in your state have been enrolled in a Medicare Plus Choice plan, and this trend will likely continue under what is now called Medicare Advantage.


If there are not at least two plans sponsored by different companies, one of which must be a PDP plan, the secretary then must contract with a fallback (nonrisk-bearing entity) to administer the drug coverage in those areas where there are not private plans that choose to come in.


And lastly, there will be subsidies to help beneficiaries who are low-income pay for their premiums and their cost-sharing, but we’ll go into more detail on that later.


So, the Medicare-endorsed drug discount program, that will run between June 2004 and the end of 2005, until the actual Medicare drug benefit begins in January of 2006.  The drug discounts, basically they will be provided by private companies as well.  These are companies like PBMs, which are pharmaceutical benefit management companies; possibly other insurance type companies.  CMS recently released results.  They had a 106 applications that were filed to offer such types of discount programs, so there seems to be quite a bit of interest in this.  But it’s very important to remember that these are strictly discounts.  This is not the actual drug benefit, and that is likely to be a large source of confusion among beneficiaries.  There is no guarantee of any minimum discount that must be provided.  The administration estimates that savings would likely be between 10 and 15 percent on total drug costs, but there’s no guarantee, as I said, of any minimum savings that have to be obtained.  So, beneficiaries may, in fact, find that they achieve greater savings from other sources, and those sources could be non-Medicare-endorsed cards.  It could be through discount stores like Costco or perhaps even from Canada.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Question?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  So, these magic discount cards that the feds have offered don’t require any particular discount.  They could take off one cent and fulfill the federal law.


MS. KITCHMAN:  That is correct.  There’s no minimum discount.  In fact, depending on what these plan sponsors negotiate with drug manufacturers, some drugs, perhaps, may be subject to quite large savings, but others may be subject to no savings whatsoever.  They are required to pass along those savings to beneficiaries, but there’s nothing stated in the law that requires any minimum discount that must be achieved.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  So, there’s no guarantee of any savings at all.


MS. KITCHMAN:  No guarantee of any savings at all.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Great deal.  Great deal for the drug companies.


MS. KITCHMAN:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just say on that point, because I think it really goes to the heart of not only the confusion but the perception that there is, indeed, a benefit, is that you have a series of plans that are available, and one plan may have one particular prescription that is a good rate and competitive.  If they have the ability to analyze the four or five options available to them, including California’s plan—and they have to lock into a plan—they have to have the ability to move from plan to plan should they have two or three other medications or drugs that are necessary that would have a discount in one of the other two or three or five other programs.  I mean, a person who is a genius, college educated, who works in this field is going to have a challenge; who doesn’t have health problems trying to maneuver through a system.


MS. KITCHMAN:  That’s correct.  Each individual who elects to get a Medicare-endorsed card can only be in one Medicare-endorsed card program per year.  There are two years that this program will be effective, so at the end of 2004, they could make a change to another one.  However, they are not prohibited from obtaining other types of discount programs that may be available that are not considered Medicare-endorsed.  So, it could be, in fact, Senator, that one would find that one of their prescriptions gets very good savings off of the Medicare-endorsed card that they chose but for, perhaps, another prescription that they use, they may find savings achieved elsewhere.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I want you to continue your testimony, but let me just say it’s going to require a fairly sophisticated consumer who has access to a lot of information and can understand it clearly enough and hope that those discounts, as they’re called, don’t change; which, in fact, they can without notice.  Or the notice is on the Internet, excuse me.  So, at some point, the consumer may ask, Why am I charged a higher rate? and find out, Well, didn’t you go to the Internet two months ago and check the change that we posted there?

I think it’s really important that we illustrate the confusion, but please continue.


MS. KITCHMAN:  Certainly.  Perhaps the most valuable component of this discount drug program is the transitional assistance that would be offered to low-income beneficiaries with incomes that are less than 135 percent of poverty who don’t have drug coverage.  That’s an individual who earns about $12,600 per year.  For these individuals the government would pay the annual fee to be part of a card program, and they would also pay 90 to 95 percent of cost of covered drugs up to $600 per year.  Whatever is left of that $600 subsidy can then be carried over into 2005.  This requires only a self-declaration of income.  There is no asset test, and seniors need not reapply for assistance each year.  


This is in stark contrast to the requirements and the process for receiving low-income subsidies under the real drug benefit that kicks in in 2006.  And there could be very important lessons that we learn from this transitional assistance program that we might be able to apply in the future for the real drug benefit.  The administration estimates that about 4.7 million would be eligible for this $600 subsidy.


Now the real complicated part.  If you think this next figure looks complicated, it’s because it is, and it’s about as complicated as the drug benefit is.  The best way to really look at this is from the bottom up because it’s basically our attempt to graphically depict what standard drug coverage would look like under the new Part D in 2006.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just also weigh in here because I think it’s really important.  I don’t know whether other members have gotten calls in their district offices as some of the ads are on the air and/or some of the information is getting out there, but it really is going to take a case management model in many of our offices to maneuver through these systems.  I mean, if there’s a way that we can have somebody train our staffs to respond to this and then train us to understand it, we’re going to be looking for that kind of advice and assistance.  But this illustrates as we begin looking at the contradiction and the confusion of these plans.  So, I just wanted to make that point because I know my office has gotten the calls, and we’re trying to figure out the easiest way to assist and help our constituents and the confusion that is out there.


Please continue.


MS. KITCHMAN:  So, beneficiaries who choose to sign up for the new drug benefit, they will pay a monthly premium to obtain this benefit.  In 2006, the average premium is expected to be $35, but that will vary from plan to plan, and it will vary in different areas, and it will grow over time; and we’ll talk about that in a moment.


Beneficiaries will be responsible for the first $250 in drug expenses.  That’s the bottom layer of this column.  That’s what we call the deductible.  Then, above that they will pay on average 25 percent coinsurance for any drug costs that they incur between $251 and $2,250 in total drug expenditures.  At this point, once the beneficiary reaches the benefit limit of $2,250 in total drug expenditures, they will face a gap in coverage, and this is what many have referred to as the “donut hole.”


During that gap in coverage, beneficiaries will pay 100 percent of their drug costs until they reach $5,100 in total drug expenditures or, in other words, until they, themselves, have paid out of their own pockets $3,600 toward the purchase of prescription drugs.


From this point forward, after they’ve reached what we’re calling the “catastrophic threshold,” the beneficiary will then pay either $2 for generics and $5 for brand drugs or, more likely, they’ll pay 5 percent of the cost of their drug medication (whichever happens to be the greater), and Medicare will then pay the remainder.  So, it’s not until an individual achieves $5,100 in total drug expenses, which is equivalent to them having paid $3,600 out of pocket, that the catastrophic component of this drug bill kicks in.


What you’re looking at here is considered standard drug coverage in 2006.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, that’s, on average, $300 a month for someone who’s on a limited income.  That’s a lot of money.


Please continue.


MS. KITCHMAN:  While this is standard coverage, the law allows plans to offer alternatives called “basic coverage” which is somewhat comparable to standard coverage, but it allows them greater flexibility in how they set up the cost sharing and the co-payment arrangements.  The law says they have to require a deductible, but it cannot be greater than the deductible for standard coverage, and they also must keep the same out-of-pocket threshold, which is the $3,600.  But within that—for example, in that first tier for standard coverage—the beneficiary pays 25 percent and Medicare pays 75 percent.  Plans can make changes in that area, and they can offer alternative benefit structures.


So, depending on the plan a beneficiary selects, he or she may experience a benefit design that’s quite different from his or her neighbor, and there will be difficulty, again, I think, and confusion for beneficiaries to try and assess what is the best benefit package that they should be buying into.


The benefit levels for standard drug coverage are indexed to rise annually with the growth in average per capita drug expenditures for the Medicare population.  As a result, if you look at the figure on the left, CBO estimates that the deductible for the drug benefit will increase from $250 in 2006 to $445 in 2013.  Likewise, if you look at the figure on the right, you’ll see the initial benefit limit—which is the blue line on the bottom—that will rise from $2,250 in 2006 to $4,000 in 2013; while the catastrophic threshold, which is the red line, will increase from $5,100 to over $9,000 in that same period.  So, as a result, you can see the “donut hole,” or this benefit gap, increases tremendously over time:  from $2,850 in 2006, when the drug benefit first begins, to an over-$5,000 benefit gap (or “hole in the donut”) by 2013.


This raises the important question about filling the “hole in the donut.”  The deductible cost-sharing and costs above the annual coverage limit count toward the out-of-pocket threshold unless they are paid by a third party.  In other words, any third party payer—like, for example, if an individual had retiree health benefits from a former employer—those payments made on behalf of the beneficiary would not count toward a beneficiary’s meeting their out-of-pocket threshold to then qualify for catastrophic drug coverage.  The only exceptions to a third party paying on behalf of a beneficiary to help fill that gap are state pharmacy assistance programs, another individual (such as a family member), or as a low-income subsidy for drug benefits provided under the law.


So, as a result of this major piece of legislation, the Congressional Budget Office projects that all Medicare beneficiaries will have drug coverage in 2006, and that’s quite a goal compared to today when an estimated 25 to 38 percent of beneficiaries lack any coverage for drugs.  As you can see, they’re projecting that 60 percent will end up being in these risk-bearing plans.  It could either be Medicare Advantage plans or these PDPs, the private drug plans.  Thirteen percent will end up in fallback plans, and that’s because private plans don’t end up coming to their area; so, the secretary will contract with another entity.  Seven percent will be in some other source of drug coverage; likely to be public sources like VA benefits.  And then, 20 percent are expected to have employer-sponsored drug coverage.  


Today, employer-sponsored retiree benefits are the most prevalent source of drug coverage for seniors.  They cover about 30 percent of seniors.  The law included about $89 billion in direct and indirect subsidies to encourage employers to stay in the game and to maintain their retiree health benefits to their retirees.  The law allows retiree plans to provide prescription drug benefits that are comparable to those under the Part D drug benefit, and they can receive subsidies for doing so.  Or they can simply pay Part D premiums to enroll their retirees in this new Medicare drug benefit.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Kitchman, I apologize because we did interrupt you, but we have a lot of speakers, and I was hoping, is there a way that you can summarize fairly quickly and allow members to ask appropriate questions?


MS. KITCHMAN:  Sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MS. KITCHMAN:  The next issue is low-income subsidies.  I think we’re going to actually have a panel on this, so I will keep it brief and just say that the dual-eligibles will experience a major change in their drug coverage because they will now be no longer receiving drug benefits through Medicaid.  They will be getting their drug benefits through the new Medicare program.  This is a major shift in coverage and the way the programs will work for the dual-eligible population.


Clearly, there are major implications for the states, many of which aren’t even known yet, but the largest burden on the states will be this new maintenance of effort to return to the federal government a share of the amount that the states would have spent on dual drug coverage under Medicaid had the new law not been enacted.  As a result of this “clawback” and administrative responsibilities for signing up beneficiaries, the net fiscal relief to all states is only expected to be about $17.2 billion over the ten-year period, which is far less than most states had expected or anticipated.  And it’s hard to tell how individual states will fair; although, those states that have traditionally had very generous benefits for their duals and have expanded coverage to a large share of the low-income population will probably fair worse.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That would be California.


MS. KITCHMAN:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  At a time when we can ill afford fairing worse.  We’re going to provide health care anyway through an emergency setting or otherwise.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  So, the way the federal law is written, those states that have done the most for their poor people get penalized the most?


MS. KITCHMAN:  That’s typically how it will work.  It’s a complex formula, but basically it’s mostly based on states’ per capita spending on Medicaid drugs for their dual population in 2003.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  So, they have a list of which California people in the federal government voted for this travesty?  Is there a list like that?  We ought to send a letter with this and ask them who they’re representing; who their constituents really are.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We can probably provide that for the committee members if they desire.  We’ll do that, staff, okay?


MS. KITCHMAN:  I think one of the big issues is the cost of this bill as well.  How much the landmark legislation costs really depends on who you believe in Washington.  The Congressional Budget Office estimates that the bill will cost $395 billion over ten years.  Recently, the administration has come out with far higher estimates.  OMB estimates this new law will cost $534 billion over ten years.  So, the $139 billion difference in estimates has obviously raised considerable attention among policymakers.  Most of that difference has to do with varying assumptions about participation, both in the drug benefit itself as well as participation in low-income subsidy programs and participation in Medicare Advantage.  But with the Medicare drug program projected to cost $139 billion more than was originally anticipated, there is increased attention to controlling costs.  


So, there is increased attention being placed upon the noninterference provision, which, Senator Ortiz, you introduced in your opening statement.  That is happening at the federal level.  Nancy Pelosi and her counterpart, Tom Daschle, in the Senate are both very interested in trying to roll that back.  However, CBO claims that striking the provision would only have (quote) “a negligible effect on federal spending” because they estimate that there will be substantial savings from private plans and that the secretary wouldn’t be able to negotiate prices that would further reduce the spending.


There are a number of issues and challenges for beneficiaries, but I believe that the rest of the panel will be able to address these.  The three that are very key is there is a late enrollment penalty.  Should beneficiaries choose to enroll in the Medicare Part D at a later point, they may face a premium penalty that would then be valid for the rest of their time on the program.  There are also tremendously wide variations in the potential premium you might spend in the benefit design, as we talked about, and specifically formularies.  That is the array of drugs that are covered, and that could be very difficult for beneficiaries to figure out because the plans may take drugs off the formulary.  The third issue is the annual lock-in.  Beneficiaries will be locked into these plans, and they will only be able to make coverage decisions during the open enrollment period that occurs once a year.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, they may indeed have entered a particular plan because of one compelling prescription drug that was incredibly expensive, and then, before they could drop that, the plan could drop that from the formulary. 


MS. KITCHMAN:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And they’d be locked into that and precluded from moving over without a penalty or at all?


MS. KITCHMAN:  They would not be able to enroll at all.  You’re locked into your plan until the next open enrollment period and then you can make a change.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Devastating.  I’m really going to ask you to wrap up.


MS. KITCHMAN:  I’m basically done.  I would just say there are a number of questions that your committees should be thinking about and looking at for the future; the big response of the key players.  There’s really no certainty that these private drug plans will come into being.  These are new products.  We’ve never seen them before, and it’s just not clear whether they’ll participate and where they will participate.  We’re not clear about whether employers will end up taking these subsidies and retaining their retiree health benefits.  We’re not sure whether the low-income population will actually be able to get their subsidies; how that will work.  How will they know about it?  Who will sign them up?  


So, I think that there are a number of issues that only time will tell, but I appreciate the opportunity to speak to you today, and I will gladly take any questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me thank you.  It was a very thorough presentation, and you framed the big issues.  We’re going to invite you back as we go through the various proposals that will come through this committee.  Members, the background statement is pretty thorough, but I would encourage you to take the time to call Ms. Kitchman yourself.


Unless there’s some compelling questions right now, I thought we would move into the next speaker.  Unless members would like to weigh in and ask questions now.


Ms. Kitchman, you know that we want you to stay and be available for questions.  Hopefully yes.


MS. KITCHMAN:  Yes.  It’s not a problem.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  There will be questions.  I just want to get us through the testimony to be able to raise more questions.


Mr. Jeff Flick is with us.  Mr. Flick is the regional administrator for the federal program that is charged with implementing most of the provisions of the drug bill.  His region’s jurisdiction includes California along with a number of other western states.  We’ve asked Mr. Flick to come in and address the overview of how CMS is implementing the initial provisions of the bill, including the consumer outreach and education efforts, as well as prescription drug card provisions.  We’ve also asked him to be available to respond to general questions about legislation and the new drug benefit.


Before you begin, I have to do just a little courtesy.  I’ve been asked to introduce and acknowledge that there are several dozens of seniors here who are very interested in this issue, and I want to take a moment to recognize them.  They’re from the California Alliance for Retired Americans as well as the Senior Action Network and others who have joined us today.  I want to take the time to acknowledge them, and if we, indeed, have time under “Public Comment,” hopefully you’ll be able to come forward.  But thank you for coming here.  It’s really important.  I’m hoping that we’re going to address and answer the questions or at least raise the issues that maybe you’re asking as well.


Mr. Flick, you may begin.


MR. JEFF FLICK:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.


Chairman Ortiz and all of the senators that are part of this committee and are obviously interested in this subject, I’m delighted to be here this afternoon.  I’m, I guess, one of the individuals that has the very simple job of actually implementing this law.  I want to also commend Michelle, who I think did a superb job of outlining many of the provisions in this law.


I think I need to start by, I guess, describing the obvious:  This is a big bill.  This is a very big bill.  This is a complicated piece of legislation.  It’s not the first time that CMS has had to deal with a pretty complicated piece of legislation, but I will tell you, this is the biggest change in the history of Medicare.  It’s the biggest single expansion of benefits in the history of Medicare.  So, I want to acknowledge right from the beginning, this is a very important endeavor that we are undertaking; this has a huge impact on the seniors, the disabled, and the people who care about them in this country; and we’re talking about a tremendous amount of money that is also going to be invested in seniors’ health care.  I don’t care whether you think the number’s going to be $395 billion or $540 billion.  In my book, either one of those numbers are very, very large.  


And to a large degree—and I think we’ll have an opportunity to talk about this during the course of the afternoon—the challenge that the President had and the challenge that the Congress had was to try to do the best they could, fitting benefits into this number of $400 billion; trying to help the states, trying to help the rural providers of health care, trying to help the physicians in this country who have some issues, trying to help all of the seniors that do not have prescription drug benefits today—millions and millions of people—trying to help the seniors that are low income and have some very special needs, trying to help the seniors that have very high drug costs and also have some very special needs, and trying to help all the other seniors who also are in need of drug benefits but might not have a low income or might now have very, very high drug costs.  That was sort of an interesting challenge that the President and the Congress took on.


Principally, my job as the regional administrator of Region 9 of CMS is to work with some very great partners to do the best job we possibly can to implement the provisions in this bill and to do the best job we can of reaching out to the seniors, to the disabled population, and to people who care about them; to help them understand the implications of this bill, the decisions that are a part of this bill, and the options that are available to seniors.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Flick, if I may, because I know we’re tight on time, I want to see if you can give us the “how” of the implementation rather than the generalities.


MR. FLICK:  Here’s the how.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There are a number of issues that were raised in the presentation earlier that maybe you could on point either clarify or . . . 


MR. FLICK:  Let me invite people to jump in, obviously, at any point, but here’s the how:  We’re modeling this largely after the M+C Program.  That’s another program that we’ve implemented that we know a lot about and it’s complicated.  The seniors that opted for the M+C Program, many of them are low-income, many of them don’t even speak English as their primary language, and we’ve learned a lot by trying to educate that group of seniors around the benefits of M+C.  


Here’s basically the approach we’re going to take:  Several things are going to kick into place very, very soon.  You may have already seen the national ad campaign that’s running on the TV.  We’re going to be putting ads on the TV, on the radio, in the newspapers.  They’re playing today.  We’re investing about       $32 million to first make sure that seniors understand that they have a decision to make and they have a new option available in May of this year.


SENATOR ROMERO:  So, $32 million nationally for an advertising campaign?


MR. FLICK:  Nationally for an advertising campaign.  That’s correct.  That buys you a certain amount of TV time and a certain amount of radio time, and we have spots both in English and in Spanish, and that is one way to try to reach people.  The primary message of the national commercials that are on TV is to try to make sure seniors know they have two reliable places where they can go any hour of any day:  a website for those that are sophisticated enough to use the Internet, and a 1-800 toll-free telephone number for those who would rather operate on the telephone as opposed to the Internet.  They can obviously go to the Internet at any time they want, and the telephone number is staffed 24 hours a day.


Now, the customer service reps who man this telephone line, we’re increasing the numbers from about 300 employees at any given time to about 900 because we know we’re going to get a lot of phone calls, and we know there’s going to be a lot of questions.  


The first thing I have to say, I don’t care whether you’re a senior or not or what age you are, if you have a parent or anyone that you care about that’s a senior, you ought to dial that number; you ought to experience that number.  I do it probably several times a week just to test it to make sure that the operators are responsive and they can answer complex questions.  I think you’ll be pretty surprised at how capable these people are and how they can drill down to specific information about any particular part of the country.  But the 1-800-MEDICARE telephone number and the website are obviously important.  The national ad campaign is obviously important.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s helpful because I think that’s what’s generating the calls, but now the question is how to maneuver through it.  And the issues, again, that were raised, if you could address the challenges that were outlined.


Senator Vasconcellos?


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  One report we had was that all your folks ever do is refer people to the state information system.


MR. FLICK:  That’s not true.  You ought to do it yourself.  You ought to call 1-800-MEDICARE yourself.  If you’re not getting a satisfactory response, I would invite you to please call me.  If anybody’s interested, I’ll give you my telephone number right now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Why don’t you go ahead and do it on the record?


MR. FLICK:  Sure.  415/744-3501.  The only thing I’ll mention is I’m not exactly there 24 hours a day.  The 1-800-MEDICARE people are.  But I’m there a lot, so feel free to call.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We do appreciate that.


MR. FLICK:  The other part of this effort is an outreach effort where we work with our partners.  And I think, Chairman, you mentioned something about training your staff?  I’ll extend the invitation right now to you, to the other members of the committee.  In fact, I’ll go beyond that.  We are reaching out to all of our stakeholders, whether it be consumer groups or whether it be advocate groups.  We work, obviously, very closely with the AARP.  We work with our    SHIPs and our . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Excuse me.  It really is not appropriate, as much as we have strong feelings about those decisions, to please not do that in the gallery.  Thank you.


MR. FLICK:  We work with our SHIPs, and we work with a large network of providers.  Also very important for providers to understand this because they are an important link in this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you are providing an in-service training model that should any legislator want to have their district staff, particularly, learn how to maneuver this, that you’ll be . . . 


MR. FLICK:  Definitely.


SENATOR ROMERO:  I’m going to take you up on that.  I think my staff are going to be able to call, hopefully, by the end of the committee hearing and have you come back to Sacramento to do the training with my district staff.


MR. FLICK:  That would be great.  In fact, the way we normally do this with provider groups, especially hospitals, we will invite all of the hospitals in this region, if they want to—and we hope they will—organize the patients around their community, have a meeting, put people in a room, talk about what we call “MMA” (the Medicare Modernization Act), and if it’s a big enough group, CMS will send a person in person to talk to the group.  If it’s a small group, we’ll arrange for someone to be on a conference call.  We want to reach as many people as we can reach.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to get to some specific questions because I think there’s a lot of general information, and I want to see if we can tailor it in such a way that goes to the heart of the difficulty that we are seeing in this program.


In California we have a series of HICAP programs which have a lot of experience, of course, with educating seniors and beneficiaries about their healthcare coverage and choices.  How is CMS working with those programs in its outreach campaign?  And how much funding will be allocated to those tried and true grassroots organizations that have delivered and have precedent for delivering?  How much money will flow to them to achieve the objective of the plan?


MR. FLICK:  I can’t give you specifics on how much money is going to go to any one organization.  I can tell you that Congress—this was the first time they did this; at least to my knowledge—included funding of $800 million in the bill to go directly to CMS to help us nationally to implement this bill.  In addition, there was funding of $500 million to Social Security to help them to reach out and help us implement this bill.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you a point there.  On the $800 million to implement the bill . . . 


MR. FLICK:  Nine hundred.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Or $900 million, is that $32 million in advertising coming out of that amount, or is that 32 million in addition to?


MR. FLICK:  That $32 million will come out of the $900 million.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Again, informally, what is the relationship that has been formed with HICAP and CMS in California?


MR. FLICK:  HICAP, just as any other organization, can request funding through CMS.  There will be some funds available.  I don’t know how much yet.  And we’re working through those issues right now trying to figure out how we’re going to get to the $900 million; where we’re going to allocate the effort.  I can tell you that from CMS nationally, the big concern—and we learned this with the M+C population—is trying to reach what we describe as the hard-to-reach population.  Usually, that is ethnic minorities.  Frequently, that is people who do not speak English as a primary language.  And so, we’re going to be making sort of a super effort to try to capture that hard-to-reach population, believing that most of the population understands that there is a new bill and there is a drug benefit, and there’s been a lot of discussion about this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me go back to the CMS-HICAP relationship.  Discussions have begun?


MR. FLICK:  I don’t know.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think we’re going to hear from HICAP, hopefully, later to determine whether or not any discussions have begun.  My sense is, we would like to see in the Legislature some sort of formalization of that opportunity or offer for HICAP to be a key if not the sole or primary provider of implementing this model in California because we know it works, and we’ll hopefully hear from HICAP.  


But I think we need to look at ways of either doing a formal MOU or statutory implementation of this.  I mean, we cannot wait for the good intentions that don’t come together and actually form a policy or program, and certainly, the funding is essential.


MR. FLICK:  Right.  And in all candor, I can tell you I know the requests are pouring into CMS, and the requests are obviously way more than the money that we have.  But we’re going to take that $900 million and use it in the best, smartest way we possibly can.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I need to get to some specifics because we do have other speakers.  And I apologize if members want. . . . I’m going to guide you because I need some details.


How will the beneficiaries be sure that a given drug that they need—a life-saving drug—will continue to be covered under their discount card when they make the decision to enroll and that will be available during the duration of their enrollment in that plan?


MR. FLICK:  There is no absolute guarantee.  This is the way the discount card works:  There is a requirement that everyone that submits a proposal has to have discounts on drugs in each of 200 different categories.  Now, all that absolutely requires is that there be discounts on drugs in every single category, not every single drug in every single category.  So, it is possible that someone might be taking a drug and that particular drug for Company A may not have a discount.  


Now, here’s one of the unique . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, I’m more concerned that when they enroll the drug is available—and they enroll for that purpose—and then the drug is dropped in two months.  That’s a problem.


MR. FLICK:  One of the unusual aspects of this is we’re going to have actual prices on the Internet, and anything that we have on the Internet can be accessed by the 1-800-MEDICARE operators.  So, people who don’t want to use the Internet, don’t like to use the Internet, can call 1-800-MEDICARE, and they can say, I want to know if Drug A is included and exactly what the price of that drug is, and they’ll be able to get exactly what the price of that drug is under Discount Card A.  Now, Discount Card B might have a different price for that drug.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Maybe I’m not making myself clear.  It’s not a question of whether or not there are varying levels of costs that the consumer maneuvers and determines.  It’s once they lock into a plan that they have to stay in for a year; that that plan then, after enrollment, drops that particular drug.  What do they do then?


MR. FLICK:  They have an opportunity to change discount cards one time in the beginning of 2005, and if they come into a program in 2004, the drug card company is allowed to make some changes.  So, there’s no guarantee . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s what I need to hear.  There’s no guarantee . . .


MR. FLICK:  That everything stays the same.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But the reason they decide and choose a plan on a particular life-saving drug, whatever it may be—or two or three of them—that they’re going to be assured that the next month that that drug is going to be available through that plan and they’re locked into that particular plan.


MR. FLICK:  That’s correct.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  What’s the rationale for that?


MR. FLICK:  I’m sorry?


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  What was the rationale for that?


MR. FLICK:  Well, the idea here is we wanted to have lots of plans interested in participating in this program.  We did have 106 different companies apply.  It is difficult for the company to lock into a specific price because the market is changing all the time.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  The companies come first and the patients come last.


MR. FLICK:  Well, it’s a . . .


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  That’s what it sounds like.  In your words.


MR. FLICK:  I think what we’re doing is we’re offering seniors an opportunity for discounts that they didn’t have access to before.  Many seniors in this country, unfortunately, pay full retail price for their drugs.  They are just about the only people in this country that are paying full retail price for the drugs.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  That doesn’t deal with my question.  If you want to be illusive you can but not on my time.


MR. FLICK:  Okay.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Why do the companies come in first and the patients come in last?  It’s tough on the companies.  If a person locks into a plan for certain drugs, why should he or she be vulnerable because some company doesn’t like to do it anymore?


MR. FLICK:  The idea is to have companies come into the program so that they can do a good job providing discounts for the seniors.  If you make the rules such that the companies don’t come in, you don’t help the seniors.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  So, if you are required to continue to serve the people who have signed up with them, that makes it too tough on them?


MR. FLICK:  I’m saying that the companies have to have some flexibility, and they have some flexibility.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Like cutting people off.  Like cutting people off on drugs they come to them to get.


MR. FLICK:  No, they have to stay in the program.  They don’t have the flexibility to drop out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, they have the flexibility to drop a particular drug or many or all.  You know, they could start out with one set of prescription drugs that are available at a certain discount rate and then the next month change all of the formulary completely and simply say, Well, we noticed it on the Internet.  That’s the point that Senator Vasconcellos is raising.


MR. FLICK:  I think you’re asking for absolute guarantees.  I think what we are saying is we are going to monitor this very closely; that it is not in the interest of these companies to behave that way.  But there is no absolute guarantee that every single drug stays exactly at that price.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  I think you’ve made that clear, and I think the difficulty is that; coupled with the fact that there is no government negotiation for the price of the drugs.  Those are the two, I think, obvious and more simplistic, glaring challenges.  I mean, they’re not the only ones, but those are significant challenges to this actually being something that’s going to deliver affordable. . . . and you’re the messenger.  I understand and respect that.


MR. FLICK:  But I’m happy to talk to that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have been trying to get a number of specifics out in your testimony, and I want to allow my colleagues, should they desire to weigh in on this topic, to do so and/or simply ask you to wrap up because we are like fifteen minutes behind schedule and we’re cutting into others’ time.  If there are some really major points you want to summarize, I’d appreciate that.


MR. FLICK:  It’s important for people to understand we have a number of different initiatives going here.  We are obviously changing the Medicare Advantage program.  That’s happening March 1st.  That’s a big activity.  The drug card, people can enroll in May.  It becomes effective in June.  That’s a big activity.  The largest activity, however, is going to be the educational effort to explain to people what their options are under the Part D which becomes effective in January of 2006.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me take a moment.  Procedurally I have to do something.  I don’t even want to explain this.


What I’d like to do is recess the joint hearing and reconvene the Health Committee for the purposes of opening the roll for Senator Aanestad.  

[BREAK]


I apologize.  It’s a little housekeeping we have to do.


Did you finish your summary points?


MR. FLICK:  One other point I want to make.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, I have to close down the Senate Health Committee.  We’re now adjourning the Senate Health Committee and we’re reconvening the joint committee hearing.


MR. FLICK:  One of the big efforts that we are going to be working on through the discount drug card is the process of helping to teach, train, educate seniors in smart ways, intelligent ways, of buying drugs.  Just as we had a major effort some years ago when we tried to explain to seniors what HMOs are and how they operate, we have a similar sort of an effort here.  These are complicated topics.  It’s important that they understand what a formulary is, what a generic product is, what a preferred brand is, what nonpreferred brands are, and it’s important that they understand the information on the pricing of drugs.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to actually have my staff draft a letter to you with some questions that I wasn’t able to raise here that I would like, if we can, get some specific responses to.  They’re outlined in my talking points, but I don’t want to take the time now to do that.


What I also am going to ask—and it will be reflected in the letter, and we’ll share it with my colleagues should they decide to take a copy—is whether we can formalize the relationship between CMS and HICAP, because HICAP is, indeed, one of the more effective delivery systems.  Rather than training seniors on how to be great consumers, which is a good thing, why don’t we just use the infrastructure that’s in place that has proven to be a pro-consumer-friendly model versus what we now have is this nebulous, not yet evolved and developed federal model?  Let’s use the system that’s in place.  I’m going to ask you to consider that.  And we’ll hear from the HICAP representative to see what discussions, if any, have occurred thus far and what they think is an ideal mechanism to institutionalize them being the delivery agent in California; if not the only, then one of the many.


So, let me thank you for your testimony—unless there are other questions from committee members?  Stick around.  I’m sure there will be questions later.


Our next speaker is Mr. Earl Lui from the Consumers Union.  We invited Consumers Union national representatives to participate in today’s hearing, but they were unavailable.  So, Mr. Lui, you get to be the likely guy, but you’re usually very helpful to us.  So, welcome.


MR. EARL LUI:  Thank you, Madam Chair and members.


Earl Lui with Consumers Union.  


I think, Madam Chair, in your opening remarks you hit it exactly right when you said that the Medicare legislation was not strong enough medicine for consumers.  That’s certainly our perspective on this.  Another way to look at it is that it simply gave up way too much in return for way too little of the benefit for seniors and taxpayers.  Once Congress decided to allocate only $400 billion, we knew that there wouldn’t be enough funding to really address this problem.  That amount is, perhaps, about one-quarter of the need for seniors with prescription drugs.


We’ve already heard today that some would argue that the resulting legislation was the best that we could do.  We’ve heard that a lot.  But I would say that if all we got out of this process was a skimpy, inadequate, complicated benefit for seniors, that would be bad enough.  Instead, what we got out of this legislation was massive amounts of corporate welfare for the pharmaceutical industry and for the HMO industry.  That’s really the main problem with this bill.


I’ll go over three points today, starting with the giveaways to pharma[?] and giveaways to the HMO industry, and then I’ll turn to the inadequacy of the drug benefit itself.


I think the biggest failure of this legislation was the failure to do anything to contain the rising cost of prescription drugs.  The legislation, as has already been mentioned, specifically prohibited the federal government from negotiating lower prices on behalf of seniors.  You know, unlike any other kind of marketplace where a larger buyer would be able to negotiate a better discount, a better deal with the seller, this legislation put a specific ban on the federal government from doing that.


The reason that that is such a problem is that the real problem we’re facing is the rising cost of drugs; that drugs cost too much and that they’re going up too much every year.  And so, in some ways the lack of a Medicare drug benefit is a symptom of that problem.  After all, if drugs were cheap, if they only cost pennies a year, it would still be a problem but it wouldn’t be quite the level of magnitude of a problem that we see now.  And so, the real pause, the root cause of this problem, is the cost of prescription drugs.  By doing nothing about that, this bill simply will cost seniors more in the future because the costs will continue to rise.  All we’ve done by passing this benefit is we’ve devoted more of the federal budget to pharmaceuticals and not provided much of a benefit for seniors.


Also, the whole structure of the bill by relying on private plans, health plans, private drug plans, pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs) to administer and negotiate this discount really just fragments the whole marketplace.  Again, this approach is what we’ve done in the commercial market, and we’ve all seen what’s happened:  It hasn’t succeeded.  Drug costs are still rising.  So, by taking away the only tool that works, by allowing the federal government to use its purchasing power as a buyer in the marketplace, we’ve effectively taken away the only tool we have to contain those rising drug costs.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to interrupt you.  Members, there’s a document in your packet.  It’s the testimony of Ms. Kathy Copelin, who will speak later, but in that document, on page 7, you will see a cost comparison chart that really sort of illustrates the difficulty and the confusion in the manner in which there are various prices and all of the options that create the confusion with the consumer.


You may continue.


MR. LUI:  On this point, I just wanted to. . . . or end this point by saying that it didn’t have to be this way; that the federal government does have models that work to reduce drug pricing.  The Veterans Administration (the VA) has a single national formulary.  They use evidence-based approaches to evaluate drugs in each therapeutic class to figure out which drugs are the most effective and also the most cost-effective.  By doing that, they can then use that information to negotiate very steep discounts with drug companies.  So, that is one example of an approach that works in the federal government that could have been adopted here but was not.


The second problem that I mentioned was the benefits given to the HMO industry by this legislation.  Basically, in order to make sure HMOs participate by offering plans, they’ve been bribed with a subsidy of about $14 billion over the next ten years.  This subsidy means that the plans will be paid about 25 percent more than traditional Medicare pays for fee-for-service with the same type of beneficiaries.  In other words, Medicare HMOs have been more expensive, and have not succeeded at controlling costs; of keeping costs down.  They’re actually more expensive than fee-for-service.  Yet, despite the history of that, they’ve been given more funding and more subsidies to continue this marketplace.  And the reason they’re not containing costs is that they’re receiving these rich subsidies, and in return what they’re doing is cherry-picking the younger and healthier seniors.  So, the seniors that are enrolled in managed care will utilize services less, and therefore, the plans are more profitable and the subsidies they’re given are way in excess of what they’re actually costing.


Some of the recent estimates that you’ve heard already about the rising cost of the bill go directly to that point.  The original cost to the bill was pegged at  $400 billion.  Now the White House says the cost of the drug benefit will be     $534 billion.  So, already we see the effect of not being able to contain drug costs, and by giving subsidies to the HMOs, we see that the costs are continuing to rise.


Just stepping back a minute, again, what’s, I think, particularly striking about what the legislation did was that proponents of it talk about empowering the free market and giving choice.  Again, it’s kind of an odd thing to have a free market that’s supported by a government subsidy of HMOs; and yet, at the same time, the federal government can’t use its power in the marketplace as a purchaser to negotiate lower prices with drug companies.  As Senator Vasconcellos was saying, it seems like the private market here only is working to benefit industry; it’s not working to benefit consumers.


The final point I’d like to make—and it’s already been touched on a bit—is just the inadequacy of the drug benefit itself.  Michelle’s already talked about how complicated and how skimpy the benefit is with the “donut hole.”  I won’t repeat those points.  I just want to make a couple of points about the subsidy . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to ask you to summarize really quickly because you’re at time as well.  But thank you.


MR. LUI:  The subsidies are very low.  It’s only for people at 150 percent of poverty or lower.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What is that amount of annual income?


MR. LUI:  It’s about $13,000 for a single person and $16,000 or so for a couple.  So, it’s a very low cutoff for the subsidy.  Also, the premium for the drug benefit, $35 is an estimate.  It’s not guaranteed.  It will probably rise and go higher.  As you’ve already alluded to, the drugs covered in each plan’s formulary are going to change.  So, just like with the drug discount card, with the drug benefit that goes into effect in 2006, every plan’s going to have a different formulary, different costs, different co-pay.  It could be totally different.  We don’t have a single Medicare system anymore.  It’s really throwing people into the private market.  And with our seniors being the most vulnerable in our population, we don’t think that’s a good idea.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I have questions, but I’m going to hold off and allow my colleagues an opportunity, if they want, to weigh in now with questions.


Thank you so much.  I’ll raise questions later if we have time.  But thank you.  Very thorough.


Our next speaker is Ms. Burns, who has extensive experience with tracking changes in Medicare and their implications for seniors and other beneficiaries.  She also works extensively with the HICAP programs in California which will likely play a significant role in educating and counseling, we hope, the beneficiaries and their choices under the new law.  Ms. Burns is a training and policy specialist with the California Health Advocates.


Welcome.


MS. BONNIE BURNS:  Thank you, Madam Chair, members of the committee.


California Health Advocates is the association of HICAP programs.  HICAP is the insurance counseling program for people with Medicare under the Department of Aging.  It also receives funding from what is known as the SHIP Program, the federal health insurance counseling programs.  So, any money coming from the federal government through that mechanism goes to the Department of Aging first and is then allocated out to the local HICAP programs.  HICAP is a statewide program.  It’s almost twenty years old now.  There is a local HICAP in every community in this state.  


California Health Advocates is a private nonprofit.  We get grants from foundations, and we have members’ dues, and with that money we provide low-cost training to the HICAP programs which they’re unable to get from the Department of Aging or from the federal government.


I think you’ve heard today some of the problems that seniors are going to have trying to wend their way through all this information.  This new Medicare discount card program is going to pose an unprecedented challenge for the local HICAP projects.  They’re going to be flooded with requests for community education and individual assistance in overwhelming numbers as CMS and others begin marketing campaigns to encourage enrollment in these new benefits.


The local HICAP projects will need funding.  They will need accurate and timely training and information.  They’ll need technical assistance to properly counsel people with Medicare and provide accurate community education.  The Department of Aging will need resources from CMS to meet the statewide training and the technical needs of the local programs.  There’s very little time to begin training new volunteers to be on the front lines by May.  Recruitment training and state certification of new volunteers is a lengthy process.  This program begins enrollment—begins—in less than three months.


Information about the new discount program will flood the airways and the mailboxes of people with Medicare.  In their outreach efforts, HICAP projects are going to have to compete with the discount card sponsors and the advertising efforts of CMS for the eyes and ears of older Californians and people with disabilities.  People with Medicare need to know about the services that HICAP can provide, and HICAP will not have the money to do that kind of outreach on the scale that they will need to do to counter some of what people will be hearing from these other sources.  It’s going to be very difficult for individuals to know whether or not one of these cards will benefit them without some personal assistance.  And with all due respect, a website and 1-800-MEDICARE will not provide that personal assistance for people trying to make sense of this.


Card sponsors can offer multiple cards.  Medicare HMOs can also offer multiple cards:  one exclusive to their members, who will then be unable to join any other card, and another to the general public.  Sponsors can brand a discount card for one group and offer benefits and different cost-sharing arrangements.  Formularies and prices will also be inconsistent from one card to another, introducing yet another layer of complexity and confusion in choosing the right card program.  More importantly, comparative information about which card provides the best discount for all the drugs an individual takes will be much harder to find.  Choosing the right card is going to require one-on-one counseling, screening for current benefits, eligibility for various low-income programs, and detailed comparisons with each card for each and every drug an individual takes.  I think I’ve provided you with a handout that has three colored boxes in it that show you the levels that people will have to go through to make a decision about a particular discount card.  And even after they make that decision to buy one of these cards, their benefits can change, as you so well noted in your questions.  Individuals, however, will be locked in to that card program that they carefully selected.  For the remainder of the year, they’re unable to switch to another card with lower costs or better coverage.


One thing to keep in mind is when the Part D benefit begins in 2006, many of the same rules that govern the discount card will also govern the benefits of the Part D benefit.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you explain the Part D benefit?


MS. BURNS:  The Part D benefit is the prescription drug benefit as opposed to the discount card program which begins enrollment in May.  The discount card program ends January 2006; the benefit begins 2006.


I wish Michelle still had her slide up there that showed you that drug discount program—or the drug benefit itself—because, in many ways, it actually punishes Medicare beneficiaries.  You cannot have any third-party payment for any of the cost-sharing of a Medicare drug benefit, or it will not count towards the catastrophic cap.  In fact, the legislation goes so far as to require Medigap policies, which have many drug benefits in them now, to be stripped out, and they cannot be sold after 2006.


I am the co-chair of a federally mandated committee that is required to redesign the Medigap policies.  No Medigap policy can be sold after January 1st of 2006 that has any drug benefits in it whatsoever.  


The decision to sign up or to delay enrollment in Part D can have serious consequences, including life-long premium penalties for making the wrong decision.  It’s likely to be even more complex than the discount card program and with longer lasting effects.  People who make the wrong choices may give up more comprehensive benefits they already have in order to sign up for Part D, not knowing that they have a choice; not knowing that the benefits that they have may indeed be what is called “credible coverage” that they can keep.  Others may choose not to sign up for a variety of reasons—some of which they won’t understand, so they won’t make a decision to sign up—and then face life-time penalties and a significant delay in coverage if they want to sign up later.


The HICAP projects have no additional money for the enormous demands that HR 1 will create.  In fact, the HICAP program lost $500,000 out of its budget for Fiscal Year ’04/’05 from the federal government.  That was a cut in funding.  This cut came despite the increased demand for HICAP services over the last several years when Medicare HMOs left communities all over California and HICAP scrambled to help sick and disabled Medicare beneficiaries replace their lost coverage.  CMS will receive almost $1 billion through 2005.  Unfortunately,       $41 million to fund the state insurance counseling programs was deleted from the final version of the bill.  No new money, technical assistance, or training has been announced by CMS to meet the needs of the state insurance counseling programs, but millions are being spent to advertise these new benefits.


The Legislature can help.  There are things you can do.  You can pass resolutions, as you said you are going to do, to let Congress know of your concerns about the impact of this legislation on Californians.  You can work with the congressional delegation so that improvements can be made to HR 1, and federal dollars will be appropriated for the health and assistance people with Medicare will need in California.  You can raise public awareness by holding hearings like this one and making sure that your constituents have access to accurate information and know about HICAP so they can get the individual help that they’re going to need to make any use of these federal benefits.  And lastly, you can specify that federal funds that are sent to the governor to fund a State Health Insurance Counseling Program is used by the Department of Aging to provide uniform statewide training and the technical assistance that the local HICAP projects will need.


I thank you for the opportunity to testify here today on this very important subject.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony.  Again, it’s all pretty overwhelming as we continue to highlight the challenges in this proposal.


What kind of formalization of a relationship would you like to see HICAP establish with CMS?  The advertising dollars, I agree, ought to be shifted to training and institutionalizing the mechanism to deliver the service to seniors in California.  But short of resolutions that may be disregarded and/or efforts I think that are occurring in this session in Congress to amend and fix some of the problems, what would you like us to ask of CMS in that relationship with HICAP?


MS. BURNS:  I think that the Legislature should make certain that whatever money comes from the federal government and goes to the Department of Aging is spent for the benefit of the programs in the local communities.  And we definitely are going to need an influx of money to meet the demand that CMS will create by its own advertising.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you if there’s a figure that you thought about.


MS. BURNS:  I haven’t, but I think we could get back to you on some of that.  And I think you would need to ask the Department of Aging itself for some of its budgetary concerns.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Flick, I’m going to ask you to respond—even knowing that you’re probably not in a situation to make commitments—whether that seems to be a reasonable request and whether it’s in the realm of possibility, if not probability.


MR. FLICK:  There’s no question SHIPs are very important to us.  We consider them to be one of our partners.  That’s where HICAP gets some of its funding.  I think there’s no question that there’s going to be additional funds allocated to SHIPs.  I don’t know what the exact amount is.  Obviously, we’re getting requests from around the country, and we’re getting requests for all sorts of outreach efforts, including coming and educating people and meeting with groups and meeting with various consumer groups and meeting with hospitals.  So, we’re going to tackle this in the most aggressive way that we can.  It’s all important.  The national advertising—we get lots of phone calls as a result of that.  That’s very helpful.  The 1-800-MEDICARE—incredibly helpful.  The website—we get 78 million hits on our website.  Very, very helpful.  I think all of the things that we are doing are making a difference.  But the SHIPs are important too.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think hits and responses versus actually taking those inquiries and having them result in delivering a service or clarifying information or enrolling people and/or explaining are two different things.  I think what we’re hearing here is a model that works that has been de-funded or underfunded; in fact, those dollars being shifted into the Medicare package.  We’re behind the curve in financing, and we’re creating a greater demand in which the states have to respond with a lesser pot of dollars.  So, we’re really far below, not just on the financing, but a mechanism that actually works.  


So, I’m going to ask, and we’ll formally do it in a letter, we need to get a little more clarification.  Three months is not a lot of time.  This is quite frightening, I think, from where I sit.  Many of my colleagues are grappling with the budget shortfall—health care being one of the major issues—that we have a really difficult time fulfilling, I think, an ethical obligation in the State of California today.


With that, let me thank you once again.


My colleagues have been in and out, and they’ve all been wonderful.  Senator Vincent had to go to his office for a moment.  Senator Chesbro was here.  We’ve been joined by Senator Kuehl, who’s really good about it, and I want to give her an opportunity to weigh in either now or wait until we have the rest of our speakers.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  [Inaudible.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s very sad, but thank you for being patient and sitting there and being the object of our discussion.  I think there will be further questions.


But let me now take the time to go to the next witness, and I’m not going to do well on this name:  Peter Szego.  We all know AARP supported HR 1 and has come under criticism, and I’m going to ask the audience to please be respectful.  It really is a consideration we give.  I’m going to ask the sergeants, if we hear any more of the hissing, that they’re going to escort whomever the hissers are out of the room.  We confer respect to all witnesses in this committee whether we agree with them or not, and that’s the expectation that I have of the participants and the public.


We all know that AARP supported HR 1.  We may have been incredibly disappointed and maybe we need some clarification.  I know AARP has come under criticism for that support.  I suspect it was a difficult decision for AARP to make, and I say that with all due respect to AARP as an organization because they have a very impressive record otherwise and certainly in this committee.


At any rate, Mr. Szego is here representing AARP today and maybe can give us an update on their thinking of the original support of the bill and the implications for California and whether there are any changes or any efforts in this congressional session to make this proposal a little more workable.


With that, let me welcome Mr. Szego.


MR. PETER SZEGO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


My name, as you said, is Peter Szego, and I’m speaking here today for AARP.  I’m a volunteer of AARP.


I think what I want to focus on—and I want to be very brief in terms of what you mentioned before of the time constraints we have—I think what I want to focus on is where do we go from here?  What can we do?  What can the state do?  What can we do at the federal level?


At the beginning, the chair outlined a number of issues on which she hopes to work on through legislation or otherwise.  Looking at those issues as far as AARP is concerned, all but two of those we’re in full agreement on.  The two in which we don’t have a position on, because we haven’t developed a position and not because we are opposed, are the problem of administrative costs of doctors providing cancer treatment in their offices, simply because we don’t have enough information at this point.  And we don’t have a position at this point on the question of maintenance of effort, not because we don’t recognize that as a major issue and a problem—it is—but because of the complexities of how this impacts all the different states and of the complexities of the formulas themselves which, frankly, most of us don’t really understand right now.  But we probably will reach a decision on that too.  All the other things you mentioned we’re in agreement on.


On the national level, we are committed to work on a variety of issues to try to improve the bill.  Our first priority is to try to do something about the mandate we would like to see for the secretary of Health and Human Services to be able to negotiate for drug prices for the system on a systemwide basis.  As the Consumer Union witness pointed out, Veterans Administration has done this for years very successfully, and there are other examples.  Even private entities like HMOs do it for their customers sometimes.  So, there is an opportunity here that’s important, so we’re committed to work on that.


The second priority we have—perhaps it will seem less striking—is to try to do something about the Canadian importation issue.  This is a little bit like prohibition a few years ago because, if you pass a law that nobody pays attention to, it isn’t terribly effective.  And we have that, really, already with the Canadian import.  Lots of people are doing it right now.  But we think it ought to be legalized at some level.  Sure, there has to be some provision for safety standards.  There’s no question about this, and this is what this issue founded on in the Clinton Administration as well.  But we think that can be met, and we think it should be.  So, that’s the second priority.  And the value of that is not just the immediate help to the recipients who import some drugs, but I think—or we think—it puts some pressure on cost containment generally, which we see is a good thing.


There are other things in the cost containment area, but I won’t take the time to go into that, but I think that’s a very important area that needs to be addressed.


On the state level, there are various pieces of legislation either introduced or in consideration, like the one that Senator Ortiz mentioned.  Senator Burton, I think, has something.  There is a whole package of bills on the Assembly side.  As far as we know, from what we’ve seen so far, we’re supportive of just about everything that’s been put out there.  It’s good.  There’s a limit to what the state can do, but it helps.


Now, let me turn, since we have so little time, to the issue of outreach, of education, and of helping people navigate this complex situation.  We think that’s terribly important.  And we agree with some of the previous testimony that HICAP is the best single vehicle for doing that in California, and we’d like to see more support for HICAP.


I happen to serve on the advisory board of my local Area Agency on Aging, which is the HICAP administrative vehicle in our area, so I’m familiar with that too, and I think that’s very important.  HICAP does a good job now but is going to need a little bit of help because this is a big problem to deal with.


We’re doing what we can in AARP internally to educate our own people, but we’re not going to be adequate to be case managers.  I don’t think that’s realistic.  We can’t train our people to that level, and I don’t think we’ll try.  We want to help them enough to get some notion of what to do and probably will end up steering them to HICAP, which will increase HICAP’s workload which they don’t have any financing for.  But we’ll steer them there anyway for the time being.


I just got through helping put on two workshops for our own people, one in Northern and one in Southern California, for that purpose; each, two days in length, and about sixty people each.  One thing that I found quite striking, it’s quite difficult to try to get people to understand the elements of these two stages to this bill because, you know, all the restrictions and limitations are different in the two stages.  So, that’s a formidable thing.  And because of the way the timelines are, I’ve sort of come to the conclusion that at least the emphasis right now probably has to be on the discount card, just to get our people lined up ready to help in some way in this very short time that we have.  We’ll have to deal with the other part too if we can’t succeed in getting some changes in it.


Of all the other things that Senator Ortiz mentioned, one other one, which I think not too many people are focusing on because it seems sort of remote but we think it’s very important, is this issue of how some of the levels, the numbers, in the bills will rise which are based on cost elements of the program.  We agree that it should be based on some other criteria.  Senator Ortiz mentioned several.  We haven’t really said what we think the right criteria is, to tell you the truth, but we think that is an important thing because otherwise, in the short span of time, the costs will become much too high.  So, that’s another emphasis that needs to be made.


So, I think we’re in agreement on corrections that need to be made.  A lot of people say we shouldn’t have supported the bill in the first place.  We can argue that, but I think the productive thing is to ask:  What do we do now?  I think we try to improve things and we try to do a good job on outreach, which is a big job, but I think we kind of feel that’s very, very important.


In outreach, we think a lot of the emphasis has to be on the low-income provisions.  If there’s anything in a bill where there’s some possibility of being positive, I think that’s where it is; although, there’s some problems there too, but maybe that can be worked on.


So, yes, we want to improve the bill; yes, we want to work on outreach.  So, that’s our commitment.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Szego.


Unless there are questions, let me just move on.  I think we’ve almost caught up with time or about right on time.


Our next witness is Mr. David Grant, who is the director of Health Policy, Senior Action Network of San Francisco.  


Thank you for joining us, and you may begin.


MR. DAVID GRANT:  Thank you, Senator.  Thanks, members of the committee.  Especially thank you for holding this hearing on what I think is going to be a continuing source of concern to four million seniors in California who are now Medicare beneficiaries and those of us who have HICAP programs who see it as, essentially, a full-time employment act for the next, probably, half decade.


The first three things I’d like to talk about are simple, practical issues, and some of these points have been brought up, and I’ll just arrange them by year.  We can look forward to in 2004 the following unhappy surprises.


Number one, the discount cards will start in May, as has been mentioned, and will take effect in June.  There are over 106 potential sponsors of these cards on the books as we speak.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just make sure.  There’s going to be 106, potentially, marketing efforts to draw in . . .


MR. GRANT:  You’ve exactly stated my point.  I invite every member of the committee to consider your mailbox at home with an additional 106 pieces of junk mail in it—and that’s just one a piece—between now and May.  We’ll be asking seniors to fish through something, probably, oh, I’d say a cardboard box worth of stuff which will offer discounts on at least one drug in every one of 206 categories.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But no guarantee that they’ll continue to offer that discount the following month.


MR. GRANT:  Well, exactly.  And in fact, the provision now says that the drug sponsors can change their provisions and plans every seven days.  Every seven days.  So, if we encourage people to be prudent shoppers and say, Let’s look at a website with 206 rows of drugs by 106 plans across, you can imagine what your screen would look like by the time that was done.  And then say, Carefully choose because you only get one shot at this, but a week later it’s all different.


Now, I’ve heard presentations from people at CMS who say they fully expect that this will not really result in a lot of volatility because the sponsors, they think, will want to offer the drug benefit later, and therefore, they’ll want to establish credibility and look good and so on.


The members of the committee, I’m sure, are aware of experiences we had in California with Medicare Plus Choice and Medi-Cal Managed Care where the phrase “unsavory marketing practices” came to mind.  You didn’t hear me say “bait and switch,” but certainly that’s another opportunity that could come up.


Second:  As we said, the discounts of covered drugs are not guaranteed.  We’re going to be looking at some kind of state emergency plan to buy bigger mailboxes for seniors throughout the state.


My organization, which is a HICAP sponsor in San Francisco, is devoting considerable resources.  We’re having a big town hall meeting on this issue in April.  We’ve already put out pieces in English and Spanish on this subject, all of which is generated out of our money (we don’t get any funding for any of this) because we think it’s important to our 30,000 members in San Francisco, all of whom will be getting 106 pieces of junk mail.  Basically, this is going to really, I think, be a worker’s comp case for the post office.  You know?  I mean, we’re talking 3 million pieces of junk mail just in San Francisco on this issue, plus God knows how many television commercials and the Lord knows what else in the way of radio advertising.


Finally, I’ll call your attention, as just one example, to yesterday’s New York Times’ headline that reads, “Fraud Kicks in Months Ahead of Medicare Drug Discount Card.”  This story describes door-to-door salespeople in the South going around collecting the $30 and offering something to somebody.  At present, it’s unclear.  We’ve had conversations with CMS itself over what sort of supervision is going to be looked into for potentially exploitative marketing.  But right now, I wouldn’t say we could have the “Dave and Peter Discount Card,” for example, but we could run it up on a laser printer downstairs, go door to door and sell it and collect $30 a pop and hit the road for Mexico.  As we see from yesterday’s New York Times, apparently someone else thought this idea up before me.


Coming next year:  I’ll call the members’ attention to the complicated graphic that the spokesperson from the Kaiser Family Foundation shared with the “donut hole” in the middle of it.  Starting in 2005, you all in the Legislature are going to have to redo the Medi-Cal program and the Medi-Cal budget to cover that “donut hole” because the Medicaid drug benefit will cease in 2006 and be replaced by the Medicare drug benefit for all of the dual-eligible Medi-Medis, as we call them.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me interrupt you.  We all are battling to try to figure out how we reject what is now a question in litigation:  the efforts by the administration to roll back Medi-Cal reimbursement another 10 percent.  So, we will not have the resources to, in fact, fill the “donut hole”; yet, we will still have people who will need care and probably emergency care, and we’ll pay at that end.


MR. FLICK:  Senator, I don’t know whether you want me to jump in on this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  Actually, no.  Let me have the gentleman continue and then allow you to respond.


MR. GRANT:  It’s going to be a fun-packed legislative session early in 2005, and I would say about this time of the year next year everyone will be having stomach aches and wishing they never heard of this issue.  The state’s going to have to pay back money to the federal government for the way the funding formula gets rejiggered.  It’s unclear at this point whether it’s going to be revenue neutral, come out ahead, or come out behind.  So, I’m glad I don’t have to worry about that.  I simply explain this to customers.


Then, finally, in 2006, we have the launch of the drug benefit.  At this point, you’ve all heard the $35 premium tossed around, and at some point, in the media coverage and the discussion of this issue, it somehow became semi-set in stone that that’s what this was going to actually cost.  Scrupulous reading and honest statements by people in Washington is that this is simply an actuarial estimate.  The actual monthly premium could be between 85 and 100 dollars a month, depending on the plan sponsor.  What is actually covered by the plan that you pay this money for is unclear; again, because there’ll have to be at least one drug in every one of the 206 categories, and it’s not sure which one that will be.  If you took a cholesterol drug, for example.  It could be Lipitor, it could be Zocor, or it could be Lovastatin or none of the above.  


The point I’ll make about this that’s important to consider is there’s a lot of discussion about building up credits to the catastrophic care and so on and so forth, and I want to make it clear that only the expenses that are related to covered drugs count towards that limit.  So, if I happen to take three drugs, one of which is covered by the plan and two of which aren’t . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Two of which you may go to Canada or order from Canada or Costco.  You can’t count those toward . . .


MR. GRANT:  If they’re not covered by the plan, you can’t count them towards your catastrophic cap.  So, I could spend $10,000 on those two and still be nowhere near.  So, that’s another happy thing to look forward to in that legislative year.


Ultimately, I think the issue that I’m concerned about, as I mentioned, is, as a consumer organization in San Francisco, we have 171,000 Medicare beneficiaries in our community who are going to be receiving all of these pieces of junk mail, all this discussion, see all the television commercials which are already out, and it seemed to basically say Medicare is really no different, it’s just better, in some way that’s not really clear.  Ultimately, all of this, we feel—Senior Action Network—simply doesn’t get at the real issue, which is the unjustified high price of the prescription drugs.  That’s really the problem.  


CalPERS, for example, which you all participate in—your retirement benefits—does not . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We don’t have retirement benefits.  We don’t have a retirement, unfortunately.


MR. GRANT:  State employees who participate in CalPERS.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  State employees, yes.  My staff are well taken care of.


MR. GRANT:  You heard the mention earlier that there was a subsidy created for private industry to maintain drug benefits.  That doesn’t apply to CalPERS.  CalPERS doesn’t get any of that subsidy.  It’s a 28 percent tax credit.  Further, the way the statute now reads—and everyone says, Well, that’s not what we meant, but that’s what it says—is that 100 percent of the cost can be shifted to the employees; so that a large employer that offered a drug benefit can shift the cost to the retirees and still get the 28 percent discount for maintaining a plan.


Ultimately, as I said, we see that the biggest problem in this is the high price of drugs.  Also, as an organization which has a HICAP contract, I’d like to see the state work with Mr. Flick and CMS to really cement some sort of relationship that encourages one-on-one counseling, because I think we’ve seen in this hearing today—how long have we been sitting here?—close to an hour and a half, and I don’t know that any of you members of the committee really feel confident that you, yourselves, could pick a drug discount plan on the basis of this conversation and that you’d know which of your prescription drugs are covered and which ones aren’t and what the prices were and which of the 106 potential plans to pick from was really the best for you, because you only get one shot at it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’ll go to you or Ms. Burns to help me maneuver through all that.


MR. GRANT:  That basically concludes my remarks.  As I said, I think we look forward to, at least at the HICAP, full employment for the next half decade on this project.  We’d really appreciate your efforts to put more money our way to deal with this.  I think the 4.1 million seniors in California on Medicare need all the help they can get from the State Legislature.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


I know Mr. Flick was really anxious to weigh in and either comment or clarify a point, and I’m going to allow you the opportunity to do that.  Normally we don’t, but go ahead.


MR. FLICK:  Thank you.


I want to jump in because I believe there’s some, sort of, bad information.  Not that people are not telling the truth.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do tell us and make us feel better.


MR. FLICK:  First, let’s talk about the 106 plans.  There are 106 organizations that have applied.  We don’t know how many plans there are going to be.  We do know that half of the 106 were Medicare Advantage plans.  So, those plans are only going to be applicable to someone who chooses a Medicare Advantage plan.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But the marketing will occur nonetheless.


MR. FLICK:  For the people in that Medicare Advantage Plan.  Right.  It’s not offered to people outside . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have no idea what the percentage is of our 4 million or so.


MR. FLICK:  And this is for the whole country, okay?  So, California is likely to have far less.  I really don’t think I’d be too worried about 106 pieces of mail.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we’ll get fifty.


MR. FLICK:  Probably get ten.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Fifty-three.


MR. FLICK:  Probably get ten.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to hold you to that when we start collecting it and have you come forward and clarify why we’re getting fifty.


MR. FLICK:  Something that this group might appreciate—we do have actuaries at CMS, and they price out each one of these benefits in terms of what it’s going to cost the government to provide the benefit.  You might be curious to know that if you are a dual-eligible, if you are someone that is at 100 percent of poverty or below, the Medicare drug benefit that you’re going to be receiving is valued—that means it’s going to cost us, we think—$4,000 per year.  There are lots and lots of seniors that are going to get a $4,000 benefit.  If you are at 135 percent of poverty, the actuarial value of your drug benefit is going to be $3,800 a year; almost as good.  That’s a lot of money.  If you are at 150 percent of poverty, the actuarial value of the drug benefit you will be receiving is $2,600 a year; a very nice, new benefit for people.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you a question.  The value of that benefit, those income levels, should they stay stagnant or decline, yet the cost of the prescriptions go up.  I mean, it doesn’t matter whether it’s a $3,800 value or a $5,000 value that goes up if their income still can’t afford to pay for the rising cost because their income is stagnant or declining.  So, let’s just provide the full picture here.  That is not, clearly, a win-win.


MR. FLICK:  But these are new benefits that are going to be delivered to people.  Obviously, I’m hearing a lot of doom and gloom.  There’s actually a lot of wonderful news here.  People that really need drug benefits are going to get very good drug benefits . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If they can afford them.


MR. FLICK:  Well, they’re not going to have to pay for a premium; not if you’re at 100 percent of poverty or not if you’re dual-eligible.  There’s no premium.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we’ll encourage those that are in the “donut hole” to decrease their income so they can become eligible for this.


MR. FLICK:  Now, if you are making 100 percent of poverty or more—those people that are not in the low-income—they’re going to get a drug benefit that has a value, after paying the premium, of $1,200 a year.  That’s still a substantial benefit that people do not have today.  So, there’s a lot of good news here.  These drugs do cost.  This is a value.


I want to talk just a little bit about . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, I’m going to ask you to wrap up, and we’ll come back, because I know Dr. Miller is probably over time.


MR. FLICK:  I don’t know if people want to discuss this . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We will have an opportunity.  I just want to get to the last witness.


MR. FLICK:  Okay, that’s fine.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If you don’t mind.  And then we’ll come back.  I promise there’ll be more questions from my colleagues and I.


Let me now introduce Dr. Miller, who has joined us, who is a practicing oncologist here with the Sutter Cancer Center, and he’s a member of the Oncology Association of Northern California.  We invited him to participate in this panel because it’s one of the less visible issues that caused some alarm when I was reading the background on the new Medicare package.  It certainly struck me as something that is not as publicized but really needs to be brought out in the public awareness level so we can tackle the challenge it presents.  But I’ve asked him to come and join us and highlight some of the particular issues dealing with the impact of the Medicare bill on cancer treatment services.  


It’s always great to see you, Dr. Miller, and welcome.  Thank you for being so patient.


DR. ROBERT MILLER:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, members of the committee and guests.  


I appreciate the opportunity to comment on the impact of the MMA on the practice of oncology in California and on cancer patients.  As the senator stated, one of the lesser known components of this legislation is that it is a virtual reconfiguration of the reimbursement for the medical oncology practice in this country.  Very briefly, the existing system in which outpatient cancer care is reimbursed is based on a metric known as “average wholesale price of drugs,” which is widely recognized as inaccurate and antiquated and in need of reform.  Under the existing system, oncologists are intentionally overreimbursed for drugs which subsidizes the serious underpayment for the services; for the practice costs associated with the delivery of care to the patients.  


The intent of the cancer provisions in this bill, we presume, was to enact balanced reform, but it’s the opinion of my organization, the Association of Northern California Oncologists, as well as our national organization called ASCO, that there may very well be serious consequences that will harm access to care for cancer patients.  I think it’s well understood that cancer drugs are highly sophisticated.  They’re volatile; they’re dangerous.  They need to be delivered with great care to ensure patient safety and requires skilled clinical professionals to monitor patient reactions.  


What is also recognized is that, in the last ten to fifteen years, the advances in drug development and supportive care have enabled cancer care to be taken to the outpatient setting.  The vast majority of the treatments that were delivered to cancer patients in the early eighties are now safely and comfortably delivered in the office setting.  This is a location which is greatly preferred by patients for its convenience.  It’s also considerably more cost effective than inpatient hospitalization.


The concern that we have is that this bill, by reducing the payments for the drugs without truly recognizing the longstanding underpayment for essential patient care services, may result in reimbursement that is actually less than the cost of providing services.  It goes without saying that this could result in severe consequences for access.


I think in the interest of time I won’t chronicle the specifics of the changes except to say that the prior reimbursement system, which is based on this average wholesale price, is being changed to something called “average sales price,” which is something that has not ever been tested.  There’s no experience with this at any level.  But the way things are working in 2004 for oncologists in cancer practice is that this is a transition year, and 2005 is when we will actually fully go, according to the spiel, we will fully go to the average sales price system.  But some of the projections that we have seen are absolutely alarming.  There’ve been some transitional increases in payment for the patient care services.  They will virtually all go away in 2005, and we will end up with. . . . one projection that I saw was a shortfall of $890 million for cancer care services.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Eight hundred and ninety million in what, year one?  Nationally or in California?


DR. MILLER:  Nationally.  Ten percent of all cancer cases in the United States occur in California.  And so, I think you can see what impact that’ll have on Californians.  


I thought it might be helpful if I could just give some specific examples of what I see in my own medical practice and the things that could very well change if these types of cuts move forward.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please do.  I think some tangibles and specifics would be helpful.


DR. MILLER:  Again, I think this is all about access.  This is all about patients getting the care that they need.  If cancer centers do not get the reimbursement that we need to deliver these services, we will have no choice but to cut our own personnel or to cut the services that we deliver.  Ways that could happen is providers may choose to limit the number of Medicare patients they see.  We may have to have quotas.  We’ll say, We’ll take so many patients per month.  Certainly, the supply to other underreimbursed programs such[?] as Medi-Cal.


I’m very concerned that this will disproportionately affect rural practices or underserved urban areas.  As a very specific example, my own medical practice, we used to have an outreach clinic in Amador County.  We closed that a couple of years ago, more because of some physician staffing issues:  we didn’t have enough doctors to go around.  We’ve actually added more doctors to our practice, but we now know that with these looming cuts, there’s no way we’re going to consider going back there.  We’re just too afraid of what the economic consequences are to open another practice in an outlying area like that.  So, we’re feeling we have to consolidate in Sacramento, which, again, is an issue of access, because I know when we left, I was a physician who used to go to Jackson, and when we left that practice, we know there were some seniors that. . . . they just chose not to get the cancer care rather than to drive to Sacramento.  So, that’s just one example of how the rural areas may be particularly vulnerable.


Another issue is that cancer clinics will have to look at the specific services they provide that are very important but are peripheral to the actual delivery of care, and I’m talking about things like nutritional counseling, psychosocial counseling; the things that we take great pride in as practitioners that enhance the quality of life for our patients.  These services are currently completely unreimbursed.  Medicare pays me nothing for my nurses’ time or for any of the other things that my nurses do to help the patients.  But we were using the drug overpayments, if you will, to subsidize these services.  If this goes away without an adequate give-back and these services end, then some of these services will have to be cut, and this will clearly result in less desirable treatment experience for our patients.


A third area of concern relates to clinical trials.  Enrolling patients in clinical trials is essential for the development of new therapies and for the advancement of science.  It is also a very time-consuming and expensive endeavor.  Oncologists like myself will simply not have the time to spend with patients to explain studies, to fill out the enrollment paperwork and report forms, and to see that patients are treated correctly if we can’t pay the salaries for our nurses who are currently doing some of this work.


Finally, one of our truly great concerns at this time is that we’re talking about Medicare right now but that it is very likely that third-party payers will seek to emulate this Medicare model.  Currently, most third-party payers in California reimburse medical oncologists on the Medicare model as it has existed to this point.  I think it’s very easy to see the additive effect this would have.  You know, without resorting to hyperbole, I think this could be the deathblow to community cancer care in the state.  I think you could very well see oncologists throwing up their hands and saying, It’s just not worth it for us to do this.  Cancer care will therefore be concentrated in some specialized areas:  in the major medical centers in L.A. and San Francisco and places like that.


My organization recognizes that Medicare reform is a federal issue and that a legislative fix will have to take place in the Congress.  We feel it’s important that this committee and all of our state lawmakers understand how this bill does contain these provisions that have the potential for harming cancer patients; for their access to care.  We ask for this committee’s assistance in ensuring that oncologists receive adequate reimbursement for the costs of chemotherapy and supportive care by the private payers and that changes in how drugs may be supplied to oncologists don’t lead to any compromises in the care we deliver to our patients.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


I have a couple of questions, but I’m going to see whether my colleagues want to raise any.  


I’m going to go ahead and jump in then.  Let me just say, this is one of the pieces and provisions that I think hasn’t gotten as much attention, and I appreciate you bringing it to our attention and providing testimony here.  Let me ask, was your national organization involved at all as the Medicare bill was moving through the process, or are you involved currently on trying to see amendments occur in this congressional session?


DR. MILLER:  The answer is “yes” to both of those.  My understanding is that the cancer piece, if you will, was one of the very last components that was being discussed literally at the eleventh hour in the House of Representatives.  The infamous four-hour roll call, I’m told that there were, still, people fighting over the cancer issue.  In the Senate, Senator Feinstein of California, a very vocal cancer advocate . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Who ultimately voted for the package.


DR. MILLER:  . . . voted for the bill, but on the record, Senator Feinstein spoke very eloquently to the cancer issue but felt that the greater good was served by this.  But the answer is “yes,” Senator, that the national organizations were involved.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And is there any likelihood in this session that some of these fixes may occur?  I mean, I have no idea what’s happening on . . .


DR. MILLER:  I am told that that is unlikely as a standalone.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask a couple of other questions.  The Medicare proposal now moves from an average wholesale price to the average sales price model.


DR. MILLER:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you give me a unit price for something like, I don’t know, Taxall or Platinum?  I mean, do you know what the difference is in those two prices?


DR. MILLER:  Well, that’s an excellent question because that really is the million-dollar question.  The average sales price has never really been defined.  I mean, it is what the words say it is, which is the average price that the manufacturers sell these drugs to the purchasers.  One of the unanswered questions is:  Which purchasers?  The price that a pharmaceutical company sells Bristol, sells Taxall to a hospital, is going to be substantially different than Bristol sells it to me.  And so, certainly a large hospital system or a large purchasing organization is going to get a better price than we will.  The average sales price will simply be that:  people will be above and below that price.  So, practitioners—clearly, some of them are going to not be able to purchase this at or above the national average sales price, and this is what’s very troubling to us right now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, do you have an opinion, or does your association have an opinion on the discussion and recommendations about government negotiating prices as a potential remedy in this?


DR. MILLER:  I don’t believe our national organizations have expressed a formal opinion about the government negotiating.  I recognize that’s the crux of this matter.  As the senator knows, these are very expensive drugs, and we wouldn’t be talking about this if we weren’t talking to the dollars we were talking.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you have a personal opinion as to whether or not that might be an okay thing to do to help fix this?  Well, I won’t put you in that situation.


Let me just say, the two pieces that are really, really troubling, when I think of the model of the infusion center at the Sutter Cancer Center, which is the outpatient mechanism to deliver cancer treatment, as being the most effective and the most holistic for a patient, the notion of that being somehow jeopardized or a narrower scope of services like the nutritional services that are essential to persons who have sores from Doxil or something—you know, all the problems of dealing with chemo and not being able to be nutritionally sound—and certainly, the counseling services which are so critical to persons who are facing a terminal illness, to see those contracted or taken away because of the need to respond to this Medicare model, to me, is pretty devastating.  I just hope that the Sutter Cancer Center doesn’t have to make those decisions because it’s such a valuable asset.


DR. MILLER:  Well, Senator, absolutely, we agree with you.  We take pride in our work because this is exactly the kind of service we know that these patients who are so sick need to have to try to get through this.  I guess what my concern and what all of our concerns about this legislation is, is that it’s really going to come down to the providers who have to make that call; that we’re the ones who have to decide whether we continue to provide these services and try to spread out this shrinking pot of reimbursement across these various components that need it, or whether we’re going to have to someday say, Well, nutritional counseling is important, but . . .  I mean, I’d hate to be put into that situation.  While I don’t believe necessarily that was the intent of this legislation, that’s the way it’s looking right now.


MR. FLICK:  Senator, I’d love to be able to comment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me take a moment to recognize you and allow you to comment.  I was going to get there because I think, obviously, you’re the unfortunate person that’s on the hot seat.


MR. FLICK:  I enjoyed, really, what the doctor had to say.  In some ways it demonstrates the point of what we’re talking about to some degree.  Here we do have the government setting the prices for cancer drugs and certain other drugs.  This is an example of what some people would say would happen if the secretary or if the government were given the ability to do the negotiating instead of having the private companies do the negotiating for drugs.  The outcome of this, for years and year and years our government paid prices—95 percent of AWP—which is grossly more than anybody else pays for these drugs.  There have been GAO reports and IG reports, and CMS, of course, was criticized appropriately so.  Because, when the government was setting the prices, the government dramatically overpaid for drugs and had overpaid for years and years and years.  Everyone knows that.  That’s part of the reason, I believe, that Congress said, We’re not making that mistake again.  We’re not going to have the government try to set the prices for drugs because we know what happens.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, the precedent for oncology drugs alone, which I don’t know what the percentage is across the drug spectrum, are going to set the model for the rest of the Medicare prescription drug pricing to justify government not setting the price for all the other drugs? 


MR. FLICK:  I wasn’t in the conference committee.  I wasn’t there personally, but that’s the story that we heard was that the government did such a bad job . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  On oncology.


MR. FLICK:  . . . on oncology and on these drugs that are injected by physicians that Medicare pays for, that the government so dramatically overpaid for those drugs, that what we need to do when we have a prescription drug benefit is let the private companies negotiate these prices because they do it so much better than government does.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let me stop you there because this is where you’re really stretching my most generous interpretation of everything we’ve heard thus far.  The private sector is doing it so much better in such a way that there’s no guarantee that whatever they sign up for in a plan is not going to be available tomorrow—number one.  Number two, the pricing going up in the private sector but no assurance that the income will align itself with the cost.  That is not a good example.  We have yet to see that be a good model.


MR. FLICK:  Let me lay some facts on you.  This is GAO’s study, which I can obviously make available to you.  The GAO went in and they said, Let’s look at what these private PBMs do in terms of savings, and they found, on average, the private PBMs (which are the companies who do the drug benefit for almost everyone under 65) save an average of about 20 percent on brand-name drugs; save an average of about 50 percent on generic drugs.  That’s what happens in the private sector.  And that’s what GAO said.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You know what?  I’ve given you leeway to respond to Dr. Miller’s comments, and you’re going a little bit beyond that.  That’s usually . . .


MR. FLICK:  Let . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, let me. . . . I’m the chair of the committee.  The way the committee is conducted is we gave you a courtesy response to clarify.  


Do we have anymore speakers?  I think that’s it on. . . . oh my god, we have another panel to go.  We have three more witnesses to go, so I’m going to ask you to just stay put, and thank you for attempting to clarify, which didn’t really clarify for me.  


But let me now allow the next panel to come forward.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I do have a question.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’m really refraining from jumping in, in terms of what I know.  You can save a certain percentage of the cost of a drug, but when that cost keeps escalating, I don’t know how it helps to save a certain percentage on it.  But my question really is, since I’m generally very interested in civil disobedience, even as a state, there were a couple of comments made about how we need to do something to help our seniors in this state.  I would be interested to know in a very brief summary from any of the witnesses what they feel the Legislature or individual members of the Legislature should do in order to protect the seniors of this state from what I see as a ruinous plan.


MR. GRANT:  I’ll address the question very briefly, Senator.


In about a week a group of organizations around the state—consumer, labor, and senior groups—will be announcing a package called the “Rx Drug Bill of Rights,” for the Legislature’s consideration.  The idea being to launch California into this issue, looking at Canadian drug reimportation, regulation of the drug companies themselves, regulation of the drug marketing plans, the pharmacy benefit managers who will offer these discount cards, who are currently not regulated by the state or the federal government, and there’ll be, I believe, ten or eleven bills, resolutions, and so on; some of which you heard today.  Hopefully, we’re looking at early March to announce this and ask the Legislature’s support to really put the state on the map in terms of saying that California wants lower drug prices for everyone.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Anyone else?


Ms. Burns.


MS. BURNS:  I’d just like to say that because this is a federal program, your ability to influence it is probably through the congressional delegation.  But in order to help the seniors in California, HICAP’s going to have to have resources that we do not have.  If CMS can afford to spend $32 million to advertise this so-called benefit that is going to flood our program with people who need help, then they’ve got to spend comparable amounts of money with our program so that we can have people to help explain this; so we can have people out there who will walk every single person through these decisions.


The handout that I gave you, which you may not have seen, Senator, shows that every senior is going to have to take an inventory of every drug they take, and we’re going to have to go through a comparison.  They’re going to have to choose a card that offers them the best range of benefits at that moment in time.  And what is not clear from all of this is whether this discount will do anything for people in California because we already have a discount program for people on Medicare.  They may, in fact, already be getting a better discount than they will ever get through one of these cards.  And the fact that there are 106 organizations that have applied for a discount card is only one number.  Remember that each sponsor can issue numerous cards.  So, 106 is not the number.  That’s the number of applicants.  Each card, each sponsor, can issue multiple cards to different groups with different prices, different co-payments, different formularies.


So, I think that David was absolutely right:  It’s going to be more than 106 advertisements.  And let’s not forget that every company out there with a discount card right now or that is dreaming up one is also going to be advertising and marketing in competition with these Medicare-approved.  We’ve already seen them.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, from what I’ve seen in terms of television advertisements for pharmaceuticals, I can imagine that we’ll be swamped anyway.  Several people I know who are not even 61 yet have already received a mailing about this plan, just in case they want to think about it in four years.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’ve gotten one, and I’m going to be 47.


SENATOR KUEHL:  The other thing is that it occurs to me that when you add in the aggregate many of the senators and assemblymembers who are interested in this issue, we represent a fairly large portion of the state.  With access to public service announcements, cable, it’s a little random, but compared to what we might be able to do soon, it may behoove us at least to have a one-page indicator of the problem and a referral or something to which to refer our constituents for information and a way to, I think, be guided through the maze.  


I remember when Medicare itself, when it became possible to choose managed care instead of direct payment to your doctor, my dad was completely overwhelmed; not just with things coming in his mailbox but with people coming to his door to sell him plans.  It’s just outrageous.  It was outrageous.  There was absolutely no way for him to compare the quality of it; whether it was fraudulent.  I mean, there was just no way.  So, there has got to be some kind of a filter for this because I think the free market’s fine when it saves us some money, but I think it really is about to let down our seniors.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You know what?  You’re going to be able to stick around.  All of you are welcome to stay.  Let me just wrap up this panel, however, and let me finalize by thanking Dr. Miller for joining us.  I hope that you will keep the committee apprised of what your association is going to do on the issue of oncology services and whether or not there are efforts in Washington with your national association to amend the existing model, however unlikely that may be.  I would like you to periodically update us on that.


Let me just also thank all of those witnesses who have weighed in here.  I know, Michelle, we’re going to ask you to stay and I think Ms. Burns as well, but we do need to get the next panel forward.  We are behind on time, but I want to thank you all for your testimony.  Stick around in case we have time for questions.


The next panel is on implementation:  the issues facing the state, low-income beneficiaries, and outreach and education efforts.  I’d like to call up the three witnesses for the second panel of the hearing:  Stan Rosenstein, who we know well and we appreciate coming to committee—welcome, Stan—Kathy Copelin, who is program manager for Shasta County Health Insurance Counseling and Advocacy Program; and Naomi Young, staff attorney, Legal Assistance for Seniors, HICAP program.  And Stan is the director of Medi-Cal Services in the Department of Health Services.


You may begin, Stan.


MR. STAN ROSENSTEIN:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and members of the committee.  Thank you very much for having this hearing today and allowing me to come speak.  I’ll try to make this brief.  


A lot of the information I’m going to talk about has already been covered to some degree, so I’ll try to not repeat what people have said.  I will focus on four items today:  the relationship of the Medicare drug card to the Medi-Cal program; the takeover responsibility of providing drug coverage for people who are dually eligible for Medi-Cal; the payment of the state contribution to the federal government for the assumption of the federal responsibility for providing drug care for duals; and the creation of a new subsidy program for people who are above Medi-Cal income levels but below 150 percent of the poverty level.


As has been discussed in quite a bit of length, the Medicare program will be initiating in May (effective June) a Medicare drug discount card.  The state’s responsibility in that area is very simple.  People who are enrolled in Medi-Cal cannot get a drug discount card because Medi-Cal becomes their source of coverage.  We will be providing the federal government with a file that provides Medi-Cal information, and they’ll not be able to get the card.  Medi-Cal coverage is a much better deal than the Medicare drug discount cards.  There’s no disadvantage there.


As has been noted by a number of people, Department of Health Services does have a discount card of its own.  The rebate amounts, or the discount amounts of our card, which is really just a Medicare card, by the way—the SB 393 program by Senator Speier—is about the same level they anticipate to get from the Medicare discount card.  So, people on Medicare today have an advantage of a discount program.  The reality is the discounts vary.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Is that advantage a peculiarly California advantage, or is that true across the country?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  California was the innovator through Senator Speier’s bill.  A few other states have followed our lead, but it is unique to California.  Basically, when a Medicare beneficiary presents their card to a Medi-Cal pharmacy, they have to give them the Medi-Cal price.  That’s about a 22 percent discount right there.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  So, in effect then, this federal discount card provides no more than and probably less than a discount than our people currently get.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  On the average.  What’s going to be different, though, is on the particular drug, the discounts will vary substantially.  On some drugs, our discount is very small.  On other drugs it’s a very large discount.  It’ll vary by the drug you’re getting.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Because there’s no guarantee the discount will be large at all.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Right.  There’s no guarantee on our program.  There’s probably no guarantee at the federal level.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  But our program in place already has discounts and some of them quite a substantial amount.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  That’s correct.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Their program has no guaranteed discount other than a discount.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Right.  And they estimate it would be about the same average.  We’re working with CMS . . .


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  What did they base that estimate on?  What do they base their estimate on other than . . . 


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  I’m sorry?


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  On what documentation do they base their estimates?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  The estimates I’ve seen is out of the bill analysis.  I don’t know the specifics of where that number originates from.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  I’d like to have someone tell us that at some point.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  And the key point that is important, I think, is that we work with CMS and that seniors do become good consumers.  I don’t understand the difficulty.  You know, in some cases the Medicare discount program may be cheaper; in some cases the SB 393 program may be cheaper, and seniors need to be smart shoppers.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to interrupt.  Ms. Kitchman, do you have any idea how they have estimated that price?


MS. KITCHMAN:  The average savings, the average . . . [inaudible]?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Correct—the question raised by Senator Vasconcellos.


MS. KITCHMAN:  I’m not clear about how the administration has estimated that, but I can look into that for you.  I have some speculation, but I don’t want to say that for the record right now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Probably the actuarial figure that was referenced by Mr. Flick on the GAO?


MS. KITCHMAN:  Yes, that’s correct.  I mean, it’s based on an average, looking at a sample of . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s see if we can get some clarity and some definition of that.


Stan?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Basically, our role is very small.  The important thing from a Medi-Cal perspective, we think, is to work with CMS to make sure that seniors are aware and the community groups.  HICAP has been very effective on 393 for us to make sure that seniors use the best card that’s available to them.  Sometimes it will be the CMS card; sometimes it will be the program we have.


Coming in 2006, as it’s been mentioned, is the Part D Medicare program coverage.  The congressional intent is to have the drug coverage for people who are dually eligible for Medi-Cal and Medicare be provided by Medicare.  In doing so, the federal government has assumed financial responsibility for the coverage of duals, and that includes about 937,000 people in California who are dually eligible for Medi-Cal and Medicare.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Nine hundred and thirty-seven thousand.  So, nearly a million.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Pretty close to a million.


Dual eligibles will automatically be enrolled in the Part D program.  Just to clarify, dual eligibles are not subject to the “donut”; so, there’s not an issue of Medi-Cal having to pay for the “donut.”


We project in the budget year that we’re going to spend about $4.2 billion to retail pharmacies for drug payments, and we’re going to get back rebates of about $1.5 billion, for a net total fund expenditures for drugs of about $2.7 billion, net, for the drug program; for our fee-for-service population.


We estimate that the duals are about $1.4 billion of the $2.7 billion      Medi-Cal fee-for-service drug expenditure.  Or we spend about $700 million in General Fund on dual eligibles in fee-for-service.  We also have 137,000 dual eligibles in managed care, and right now we’re trying to calculate the cost for the drug program for dual eligibles in managed care.


As Medicare has assumed the responsibility for the drug coverage, there’s a number of factors that are affected in how Medi-Cal and Medicare will interact.  While generally dual-eligible enrollment is voluntary, dual eligibles who are. . . . or, excuse me, enrollment in Medicare Part D is voluntary in general, dual eligibles will be automatically enrolled and have to choose to come out of Part D rather than choose to enroll.  Because Part D is the source of coverage . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m a little bit confused.  Repeat that last statement.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Enrollment in Part D coverage is optional to Medicare beneficiaries.  It’s optional to dual eligibles.  Medicare and Medi-Cal will automatically enroll dual eligibles in Part D.  So, it’s not something that they’ll have to enroll in; we’ll automatically do it.  They can choose to get out if they want.


Because Medicare is assuming the financial responsibility for the program, there will be no federal funds available to the state to cover dual eligibles for those drugs that are covered by the health plan or for those people who choose to disenroll from Part D.  So, if a dual eligible chooses to disenroll from Part D, there are no federal funds for the state to cover them.  They have to get their coverage through the Part D plan.


We will not get federal financial participation for any drug that isn’t a drug therapy covered by the Part D plan.  As you know, Part D plans can provide limited benefits, and we estimate that they will not provide the same range of benefits that a Medicaid program provides, because Medicaid has to cover every drug that’s FDA-approved.  There’s no requirement for dual eligibles.


If the state chooses to provide coverage for drugs that are covered by the Medicare Part D carrier, it must do so with 100 percent state funds.  There are no federal funds available.  The federal government has assumed the responsibility.  There’s no funding for us to cover drugs that are covered by Medicare.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, what does that mean in terms of the cost gap that we have to meet?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  I will get to that in just a second.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Also, the Part D program—the contractor is not required to cover certain drugs that are optional for Medi-Cal to cover:  drugs like weight-loss drugs (which Medi-Cal covers), hair-loss or excessive hair-growth drugs (which we do not cover), or over-the-counter drugs (which Medi-Cal does cover).  The state can choose to cover those drugs if it wants, and there will be federal funds available.  However, we do need to reassess some of the reasons why we cover drugs such as over-the-counter drugs.  We cover the over-the-counter drugs because it avoids higher cost drugs.  We’ll no longer have the savings by avoiding those higher cost drugs.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it will force us to cover more expensive drugs and take away the option to reduce . . . 


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  It will force Medicare to cover more expensive drugs.  Because right now we cover over-the-counter drugs to avoid a higher cost drug.  If we stop covering them, the Medicare would not cover the over-the-counter drug, but they would have to cover the higher cost drug.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Thanks for that clarification.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Dual eligibles will also have either a dollar or three-dollar co-pay, or a two-dollar and five-dollar co-pay, depending if they’re over 100 percent of poverty level.  There is no federal funds for the state to pay those        co-pays.  The federal bill considers those co-pays to be the responsibility of the beneficiary.


Medicare’s assumption of the dual coverage will, in the long term, generate some savings to the state, as the state will no longer have to pay its share of the full drug program for dual eligibles.  However, the Congressional Budget Office assumes that in the first three years of the bill, it’s entirely a cost to the state.  And most notably, most of the savings occurs in the last four years of the fifteen years of this bill, so that, up front, the first three years we have a cost; the savings that we will see in this state will be out towards 2015.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, that should be a comfort, given what we have to face in the next four to who knows how many years.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  The bill requires a contribution, as you mentioned before, which states call the “clawback,” that starts in 2006, and we have to pay back 90 percent to the federal government of what would be our cost of covering dual eligibles as the program would be constituted today.  That 90 percent goes for 2006 to 75 percent in 2015, decreasing and paybacks by 1-2/3 percent each year.  When you get to 2015, there are savings because we are saving 70 percent of the clawback.  The savings of a clawback may be reduced or consumed by a number of factors, which include increased drug expenditure costs and population growth, increased caseload, and mandated increases in administrative burdens to the state.


Let me talk real briefly about how the clawback works.  It requires us to pay back most of our savings.  What’s going to occur is based on 2003 expenditures.  The federal government’s going to determine what our weighted average was of a cost-per-eligible for a dual eligible to cover drugs in Medi-Cal.  So, they’re going to say, It costs us “X” dollars in 2003 to cover a dual eligible.  They’re then going to inflate that per capita amount by the cost of drug inflation, and then take the total enrollment of dual eligibles in 2006, multiply that inflated cost by the new enrollees, calculate how much it would have cost us to provide coverage to dual eligibles, and then we have to pay back the federal government 90 percent of that state General Fund cost.  We get to keep 10 percent.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Lucky us.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  That 10 percent has to go to pay for all the additional costs of the program.  Eventually, that 10 percent savings inflates to 25 percent savings in the year 2015.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can we ask them to pay us earlier?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Until the very last couple days of the bill, it was not 90 percent; it was 97 percent.  So, that was one of the last things that was negotiated was to give us another 7 percent savings.  The states fought very hard to keep what we had.


I should also point out—I’ll try to cut through some of this—once we establish the clawback amount, we can’t change it.  So, if we decide we can decrease our reimbursements for pharmacists—if that was successful—that wouldn’t affect the clawback amount.  That amount becomes fixed forever.  


There’s going to be a lot of interest in having Medi-Cal provide coverage of drugs that are not covered by Medicare.  You know, we get a broad coverage; Medicare will have a more limited coverage.  


Again, the wraparound coverage for drugs not provided by Medicare will be 100 percent General Fund.  If it’s a drug that Medicare doesn’t cover, we would get 50 percent federal funding and _________ the rest to Medi-Cal.  We estimate that the clawback savings that we will get in the first year will range from about       $75 million to $100 million General Fund annually, starting in 2006.  That money has to pay for the increased administrative cost and increased Part B premiums the state has to pay for whatever drug inflation that has occurred.  Quite honestly, there will be very little savings left for the state to pick up—a state-only expense—after we’ve paid for all those costs.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Or paying for HICAP.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  One last item of significance:  There are subsidies that are provided to low-income individuals who are not dual eligible.  That helps reduce their costs; you know, subsidies, lower premiums, lower co-pays.  States are required to do the screening for those subsidies.  That means that we’ll have to use the county social services departments to screen new eligibles.  Of course, this is new workload, new cost.  The screenings are done based upon both income, up to 150 percent of poverty, and an asset test.  They are different tests than we use, of course, so it’ll complicate our system even more.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Another asset test.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Of course, that has costs for the state.


The other thing we expect is with these subsidies—that people will apply for the subsidy—the county will do their work and they will determine that people are actually eligible for Medi-Cal fully.  In that case, Medi-Cal would put them on the program, and they would be eligible for the full Medi-Cal dual-eligible coverage.  So, they get the additional benefits, including premiums, etc.  That will increase our caseload.  That will be an additional cost to the state.


We are at the process of assessing what needs to be done to implement this bill.  We will be assessing the impact and the upcoming May revision to the department and to the counties for implementation.  This will take a statutory change to change what the Medi-Cal coverage is for dual eligibles and how this program is going to work.


I’m not going to talk about—although, I do want to mention—there are key provisions in this bill on disproportionate share, which is not the topic today but we actually did very well in getting additional funds for the public hospitals and the PEACH hospitals and for DSH.  So, that was a very good benefit.  And we do have additional responsibilities for Part B payments that we will be talking about in the budget process.


Let me close with that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Thank you, Stan.  As always, we appreciate you coming in.  I’m going to actually ask a question of you, and I don’t think it’s going to be a surprise.  I want to go to the question of the Medi-Cal drug rebate program.  I’m sure the letter that I sent you that was dated February 4th is going through channels, and I hope to receive a response soon.  


For the public or those who are not familiar with the facts, there was a report, I believe, in which the inspector general in the federal audit determined that California had failed to collect, I think, to the tune of $1.3 billion in prescription drug rebates through our existing program.  That may bear some relationship on penalties under this Medicare model.  


I guess, one, what are your comments on the federal audit that suggested we had not collected the $1.4 billion that would accrue back to the program for our rebates?  And secondly, will that have any bearing on penalties under this prescription drug model?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


The letter is going through the process.  In fact, we were reviewing a draft during the hearing, so we’re very close to having it. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Bring it up here and I can look at it.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  I’ll go through what’s in it real briefly.


The Office of Inspector General report of the $1.3 billion was very unfortunate and misleading.  We contested that number.  What that number comes from is a CMS report that is generated that has a computer flaw in it, and that number is inaccurate.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And is the federal government acknowledging that they have a computer flaw in it?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Yes, I believe they have.  If you look at the overall conclusion of that OIG audit, they found our accounting standards were fine.  They pointed this out.  The best example of why I can guarantee this number is wrong is we’ve been audited by the state auditor, and they . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  We did a big hearing with Budget.  We culled through that; we scolded you; we put some things in place to collect in a more timely manner.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Right.  The state auditor number was about           $230 million; not $1.34 billion.  So, the state auditor, when they reviewed exactly the same issue, did a lot more detailed review and found out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But it was still a bit of undercollection and delayed collection, which is still problematic.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  It is very much problematic.  What the number is today is $298.5 million for that audit period.  We do not believe that most of it is collectible for a number of reasons:  It’s not due; there are errors in the data (it’s very old data) caused by a number of factors; pharmacies have billed incorrectly, have billed the wrong units; CMS has sometimes reported the rebates back to us; and sometimes we got the payments in, and we didn’t record it into our system correctly.  Last year we proposed and got eleven people to work through all of these old rebates, and we’re committed to doing that.  We will collect every dollar that is legitimately owed to the state from these rebates in the next year.  We estimate that to be around $30 million total funds.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Versus what the federal audit suggests was 1.3 or 1.4 billion?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  That’s right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s a huge discrepancy.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  It is, and we can walk you through the numbers.  The 1.34 was a computer error.  At that particular time, our records showed          $818 million.  We’ve collected over $500 million of that $818 million already.  We’re down to $298 million.  And the problem with that number, it’s of accounts receivable.  Pharmacy manufacturers owe us a lot of money, and we had just billed when they did this audit.  Those payments came in.  We get a billion-and-a-half dollars of payments a year through the rebate system, so that number goes up and down constantly.  The core number is about $298.5 million that’s in there.  The state auditor had it at $230 million.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, can you just clarify on that point whatever that figure is down to now?  Is there an acknowledgement, and will there be a recognition by the federal auditor to agree or to stipulate to that actual figure?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Unfortunately, I don’t think the Office of Inspector General does that.  Certainly, CMS will do that, and we’re working with CMS.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What’s the timeline for CMS to correct that information?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  We’re working on it right now.  We’ve actually brought in two auditors from the Audits and Investigation Division and some computer programmers to nail this down to exactly what is the reporting error and get it corrected.  We’re very close to having the reporting. . . . you know, the computer bug fixed.  But that’s an error in a CMS report.  We have a brand new, very good, operational rebate collection system that has actually done wonderful and increased our rebates.  The $818 million now to $298 million comes from that system.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask, whatever the figure that CMS and/or the federal auditor determines to be outstanding, will that have any bearing, and will there be any potential penalty to us under this?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  No.  That does not have bearing.  What will have bearing is when we establish the clawback amount, which is based upon 2003 expenditures, the only variable on expenditures is the amount of rebates we collect.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, because we only collected a certain amount in ’03 that we may have subsequently collected more in ’04, after that point in time, we will not be able to credit ourselves for having collected . . . 


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  Well, rebates always lag, so 2003 hasn’t closed out yet.  We can’t bill rebates. . . . we have to bill them quarterly.  We’re still billing 2003.  It is incumbent upon us to make sure we’ve collected as many disputed rebates in 2003 as we can because that will affect the clawback amount, and that’s where, I think, your question goes to.  The penalty will be not from the old stuff, but if we don’t have 2003 down as low as we can have it, that clawback amount becomes fixed forever.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, at what point in time do we have to have the ’03 collected?


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  We don’t know yet.  We’re trying to get that information from CMS, but we haven’t been told when they’re actually going to calculate the clawback amount.  We think we’ve got some time.  We have to have some time.  You can’t bill 2003 rebates until just recently.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, my sense is we ought to figure a way to get our California delegation to be really helpful in this, you know, depending on where we agree on the numbers or with CMS and others.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  I agree.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, I mean, that’s something we may want to think about, either through resolution or I assume that the administration is considering appealing to Congress, I would hope.  Maybe that’s something we could have you come back to committee and ask whether the new administration will make that request on our behalf.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  I will check.  I know the new administration is committed to making sure that we get that clawback amount number down as low as we can get it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I interrupted you.  You may want to finish with your testimony.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  When you get the letter, I think we’ll address all of your questions.  


I think the bottom line is the state audit, the OIG—which we don’t agree with the numbers—did point out a longstanding problem we’ve had in these old disputed rebates.  We proposed last May in the May revise and got eleven new staff.  They’re hired; they’re working.  We are committed to clearing out that backlog in a year.  And we have scored every dollar that we think we can get in the budget as a reduction in the Medi-Cal already.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Let me welcome our next witness, Naomi Young, who is a staff attorney with Legal Assistance for Seniors, HICAP.  I understand Ms. Young is going to provide information on how the new Medicare drug plan may impact dual eligibles and what your experience has been in working with the population and what we might expect in the new plan’s implementation.


Welcome.  Thank you.


MS. NAOMI YOUNG:  I have to say that, actually, what Mr. Rosenstein has said about the program is the first that I’ve learned about how it’s going to impact dual eligibles.  And so, what I’m going to do is give you some of the ideas that have come to me as I’ve been listening to this.


The first thing that comes to my mind is that under the present system, the treatment that a Medi-Cal recipient is going to get in terms of their prescription drugs is determined by medical necessity, and whether that medical necessity is predetermined by the Medi-Cal formulary or by a treatment authorization request system, basically the determination of whether or not this person is going to get that drug depends on the doctor’s judgment and concurring judgment by other medical experts that work for Medi-Cal.  If this system changes over to the federal program, then it becomes. . . . I’m not quite sure I understand D as it goes into effect, but at least under the card, basically what their treatment is going to be is going to be based on which card they choose and what’s covered by that card and what they can afford to pay if the card doesn’t cover it.  That is very disturbing to me in terms of patient care.  I also have a health background, so, for me, as a health professional, that’s very disturbing.


I know we’ve already discussed extensively the outreach and the education that’s going to be necessary for the Medicare population in general, but I think that it’s even more crucial for the Medi-Medis—or the dual eligibles.  I refer to them as Medi-Medis sometimes.  They tend to be more frail and have more problems understanding, especially, complex programs.  They require much more support and assistance to make choices and to understand information that’s given to them.  They are often confused by the existing Medicare and Medi-Cal provisions and requirements, and inevitably, they will need assistance to help understand the information being given to them about this MMA and about the choices that they have to make.


I also want to point out that in my experience in the past three years in working with Medi-Medis, that this population also tends to become more anxious and more afraid when they start receiving official letters in the mail.  They are afraid of losing their benefits.  They are afraid of making choices that will cause them to lose their benefits.  They feel that they do not have control.  


As an example that’s not directly related to this, I had a 93-year-old woman who called me and she said that she was very, very anxious; that she was losing sleep; that her health was being affected because she got a letter that said that Medi-Cal was going to be paying for her Medicare premium, but Social Security was not taking the premium out of her Social Security check anymore, and she was afraid that since they weren’t taking it out, Medi-Cal wasn’t paying for the premium and she was going to lose her Medicare benefits.  It took me two days, two calls, plus a call to her son, to explain to her that she didn’t have anything to worry about; that actually, that was a good sign that they were not taking it out of her Social Security check because, in fact, Medi-Cal was paying for her premium.  And when her son did look at the letter more closely, he did explain it to her.


But this is just one example of many.  I have many calls.  As a backup for our HICAP counselors, I will say that we get a lot of seniors who are very afraid about all of the choices being required of them, and to have this thrust upon them as well, to sit down and make a choice about their drugs, this is very serious for them.  This is very anxiety-producing for them.  They will lose sleep over it.  They will worry about it.  They will be calling our office like crazy, whether or not we’re funded to handle those calls.


I would also like to say that they are going to need one-on-one assistance to make these choices.  And I could very well foresee the problem coming up where somebody sits down with our counselor and goes over all of the options based on the prescriptions that their doctors have given them for their treatment, and they choose a plan, and then they come back a month later, after they’re locked in, and they say, Well, my doctor says I have to change my medication because this one isn’t working.  Or, I’ve developed a rash, and I’m allergic to this medication, and I can’t use it, and my drug company says they will not cover it.  What am I going to do?  I would like to know what we’re supposed to be able to tell them as counselors besides telling them, We’re sorry, you’re locked in; there’s nothing more you can do.


This was the same kind of crisis that we went through at the point where those in Medicare+Choice HMOs were going to be faced with not being able to change in or out of their HMOs more than once a year.  There was federal legislation that was going to limit their options, and we had a lot of very anxious seniors coming and saying, What should we do?  What should we choose?  We’re only going to be allowed one choice.  What if we get into that HMO and we don’t like it?

This has a very, very, very big impact on Medi-Medis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Does that complete your testimony?


MS. YOUNG:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much, and I appreciate you bearing with us.  It’s been a long day.  I think that we’ll invite you back as this unfolds and we have some various proposals moving through the Legislature.


Let me apologize to Ms. Copelin.  I think you were actually the next person that was in line to speak, but you are actually our final witness under the non-public testimony part of the hearing today.  I understand you’re the manager of the HICAP program in Shasta County.  Your background information is very helpful.  I also understand you’re going to discuss some of the data that you’ve compiled that shows the impact the new Medicare program will have on dual eligibles and low-income beneficiaries.


So, welcome, and thank you for joining us.


MS. KATHY COPELIN:  Thank you, Senator.  Thank you, committee members.  I appreciate the chance to come down here, and I bring you greetings from the frontier.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes.  Got some challenges there up in Shasta County in general.


MS. COPELIN:  I actually represent Modoc, Lassen, Siskiyou, Trinity, and Shasta counties.  Shasta really isn’t the frontier.  Modoc is.  Definitely.


Almost everything that I was going to say has been said and has been said much more eloquently than I wanted to say it.  But this program is incredibly complex.  Every single part of it is incredibly complex.  We have beneficiaries right now in the north state who are receiving their medications through the Pharmaceutical Patient Assistance Program either for a $5 co-pay or for free or for a $12 co-pay.  They stand the chance of losing that when this program starts in May.


Already, those programs are changing.  Already, the applications are changing.  They’re including now a requirement to prove that you have been denied benefits under Medicaid, which means an applicant has to go through the whole Medi-Cal process, even though they know they have too many assets, so that they can get that medication.  They’ve started adding Medicare prescription coverage on the application, and it’s very confusing.  I’ve had clients come back in with the application and say, I don’t know whether to put yes or no because I have Medicare, and I have Medicare Part A and Part B.  So, I can’t say no, I don’t have those, but they don’t cover drugs.  We have had applications returned/rejected because they indicated they had Medicare.  So, this is one of the issues that we’re seeing.


The program and the way that we have been doing this analysis has helped save people a lot of money, and this will cause them to lose a lot of money.  A preloaded card sounds really great.  In fact, that’s going to be a major selling point that scares me.  You know, you are telling these folks, Here, I’m going to give you a preloaded $600 credit card.  You know what?  That will last two months for a lot of my clients.  Two months.  Not twelve, not six; but two.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And why will it only last two months?


MS. COPELIN:  If they’re taking $298 a month in medication and they’re on the Transitional Assistance Program, they’re going to have to pay 5 percent as their co-pay.  The rest of that comes out of that $600 benefit.  That card does not help them.  And what if they drop the Pharmaceutical Patient Assistance Program to get on that?


So, we are back to that issue of what kind of support we’re going to need to get the word out.


But real quickly, access issues.  In the rural area, I think it’s just wonderful that they’re supposed to have pharmacies within fifteen miles.  We must be frontier because there’s only two pharmacies in Trinity County and no stop lights.  It’s a great place, but there aren’t pharmacies within fifteen miles of most of the residents in that entire county.  Modoc has three pharmacies.  And they’re all small, family-owned pharmacies.  They’re not discount.  We’re not talking Costco.  So, there’s some real issues in those rural areas with access to pharmacies.


The other thing is the access to understandable information about these programs.  If we’re confused, just imagine.  And HICAP has always, as long as I’ve know about the program, it has always been the most comprehensive, easily understood packet of information.  I mean, we get so much really good stuff from CHA in the HICAP program.  I think we have to focus on that.  They translate fact sheets, which is wonderful.  We’re starting to need that more in the north state.  And there’s a lot of counties in the State of California that have large non-English-speaking populations.


I’m trying to cut out everything that everybody else has said.  I really don’t want to keep repeating, but I’m going to; but I’m going to go at it in a little different way.  I figured it out, and I know we all like real, solid, concrete dollar amounts.  If you can get $10,000 to PSA 2 for the HICAP program, I can educate and counsel all 50,000 Medicare beneficiaries on this.  Ten thousand dollars.  Now, I don’t know if you want to multiply that by 33, by the number of PSAs, but I don’t think that’ll work.  That’s just our little area, but it’s a whole big area.  That’s just bringing that down.  I mean, ten thousand is not that much, but it would get the job done.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, the question is whether we should use those dollars that are currently being proposed in the budget—how many million?—   $32 million—and just shift that to not advertising but actually casework management and training and services rather than the television stuff. 


MS. COPELIN:  CMS is tripling the number of customer service representatives.  You know what?  We really need to triple the number of counselors.  And that’s the first ad I ran was for counselors, and that training starts next week.  And then I’m going to start running my own ads to counter the scam artists that are already out there.  Like, Don’t be fooled by the glitzy ads that say they’ll save you 89 percent on your prescription medications.  We have people selling drugs from India up there.  So, this is a good place to begin.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I was hoping somebody would give me good news, but I guess that’s not the case.


I know it’s been a long, long hearing, and I really want to thank my colleagues.  We do have an opportunity for public comment, which I think is really important, but I do want to give my colleagues an opportunity to ask questions of any of the panelists here or ask for clarification at this time.


Thank you all.  I hope that you will come back as we move the proposals through the Legislature and hopefully get more information from CMS and our new administration to determine how we’re going to wade our way through this.  So, I would encourage all of you—it’s been a long day; lots of information—and ask you to be ready to come back if we need your direction and advice in the future, and I really appreciate your input.  But thank you.


At this time, let me now allow an opportunity for the public to come forward.  We provided some time for public comment.  


It doesn’t appear that there’s any public comment.  We did extend the opportunity for representatives from the pharmaceutical community.  I mean, that’s a fair ability and maybe in the future they’ll come forward and provide testimony and clarify some of these points as well.


It’s clear that there’s a lot of work that lies ahead of us.  Huge challenges for California.  This is a hearing in which I always like to understand how these major federal proposals are going to impact our state.  I certainly have come away with a sense that it is going to exacerbate a major, major problem that we currently have in California in healthcare delivery.


Let me allow my colleagues to weigh in.  Maybe I’m looking at it one way, and maybe some of you have seen a glimmer of opportunity.  It’s quite disturbing.


Senators?  Anyone want to close?


Let me just thank Senator Vasconcellos, who could not be with us throughout the hearing but is always really passionate about this area, and thank his staff, Sarah Sutro, who’s always incredible and wonderful.  I allowed her to leave me and join Senator Vasconcellos, but she’s still part of our family.  And, of course, my staff.  Thank you, guys.  You did a great job, and please help any of the members here with follow-up information.  And to the public, thank you for staying with us and all of the time we spent on this.  It’s really going to give us much to work on.


But thank you all.  Unless there are any new comments . . . 


Oh.  I have to recess the Health and Human Services Committee.  We did allow, I think, an opportunity for members to weigh in and add to the vote, and Senator Aanestad did.  So, now we’re recessing Senate Health and Human Services Committee as well as the joint committee.  


Thank you for joining us.  Good afternoon.
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